THE UNIVERSITY OF RHODE ISLAND

University of Rhode Island DigitalCommons@URI

Natural Resources Science Faculty Publications

Natural Resources Science

6-2020

Scientists' Warning on Invasive Alien Species

Petr Pyšek

Philip E. Hulme

Dan Simberloff

Sven Bacher

Tim M. Blackburn

See next page for additional authors

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalcommons.uri.edu/nrs_facpubs

Authors

Petr Pyšek, Philip E. Hulme, Dan Simberloff, Sven Bacher, Tim M. Blackburn, James T. Carlton, Wayne Dawson, Franz Essl, Llewellyn C. Foxcroft, Piero Genovesi, Jonathan M. Jeschke, Ingolf Kühn, Andrew M. Liebhold, Nicholas E. Mandrak, Laura A. Meyerson, Aníbal Pauchard, Jan Pergl, Helen E. Roy, Hanno Seebens, Mark van Kleunen, Montserrat Vilà, Michael J. Wingfield, and David M. Richardson

REVIEWS *Biol. Rev.* (2020), **95**, pp. 1511–1534. doi: 10.1111/brv.12627

BIOLOGICAL

Cambridge Philosophical Society

Scientists' warning on invasive alien species

Petr Pyšek^{1,2,3*}, Philip E. Hulme⁴, Dan Simberloff⁵, Sven Bacher⁶, Tim M. Blackburn^{7,8,3}, James T. Carlton⁹, Wayne Dawson¹⁰, Franz Essl^{11,3}, Llewellyn C. Foxcroft^{3,12}, Piero Genovesi^{13,3}, Jonathan M. Jeschke^{14,15,16}, Ingolf Kühn^{17,18,19}, Andrew M. Liebhold^{20,21}, Nicholas E. Mandrak²², Laura A. Meyerson²³, Aníbal Pauchard^{24,25}, Jan Pergl¹, Helen E. Roy²⁶, Hanno Seebens²⁷, Mark van Kleunen^{28,29}, Montserrat Vilà^{30,31}, Michael J. Wingfield³² and David M. Richardson³

¹Czech Academy of Sciences, Institute of Botany, Department of Invasion Ecology, Prühonice, CZ-252 43, Czech Republic

²Department of Ecology, Faculty of Science, Charles University, Viničná 7, Prague, CZ-128 44, Czech Republic

³Centre for Invasion Biology, Department of Botany & Zoology, Stellenbosch University, Matieland, 7602, South Africa

⁴Bio-Protection Research Centre, Lincoln University, Canterbury, New Zealand

⁵Department of Ecology and Evolutionary Biology, University of Tennessee, Knoxville, TN, U.S.A.

⁶Department of Biology, University of Fribourg, Fribourg, Switzerland

⁷Centre for Biodiversity and Environment Research, Department of Genetics, Evolution, and Environment, University College London, London, WC1E 6BT, U.K.

⁸Institute of Zoology, Zoological Society of London, Regent's Park, London, NW1 4RY, U.K.

⁹Maritime Studies Program, Williams College – Mystic Seaport, 75 Greenmanville, Mystic, CT, 06355, U.S.A.

¹⁰Department of Biosciences, Durham University, South Road, Durham, DH1 3LE, U.K.

¹¹Division of Conservation Biology, Vegetation and Landscape Ecology, Department of Botany and Biodiversity Research, University of Vienna, Vienna, Austria

¹²Conservation Services, South African National Parks, Private Bag X402, Skukuza, 1350, South Africa

¹³ISPRA, Institute for Environmental Protection and Research and Chair IUCN SSC Invasive Speciels Specialist Group, Rome, Italy

¹⁴Leibniz-Institute of Freshwater Ecology and Inland Fisheries (IGB), Müggelseedamm 310, Berlin, 12587, Germany

¹⁵Institute of Biology, Freie Universität Berlin, Königin-Luise-Str. 1-3, Berlin, 14195, Germany

¹⁶Berlin-Brandenburg Institute of Advanced Biodiversity Research (BBIB), Königin-Luise-Str. 2-4, Berlin, 14195, Germany

¹⁷Department Community Ecology, Helmholtz Centre for Environmental Research – UFZ, Theodor-Lieser-Str. 4, Halle, 06120, Germany

¹⁸Geobotany & Botanical Garden, Martin Luther University Halle-Wittenberg, Am Kirchtor 1, Halle, 06108, Germany

¹⁹German Centre for Integrative Biodiversity Research (iDiv) Halle-Jena-Leipzig, Deutscher Platz 5e, Leipzig, 04103, Germany

²⁰US Forest Service Northern Research Station, 180 Canfield St., Morgantown, West Virginia, U.S.A.

²¹Faculty of Forestry and Wood Sciences, Czech University of Life Sciences Prague, Prague, CZ-165 00, Czech Republic

²²Department of Biological Sciences, University of Toronto, 1265 Military Trail, Toronto, Ontario, M1C 1A4, Canada

²³Department of Natural Resources Science, The University of Rhode Island, Kingston, Rhode Island, 02881, U.S.A.

²⁴Facultad de Ciencias Forestales, Universidad de Concepción, Concepción, Chile

²⁵Institute of Ecology and Biodiversity, Santiago, Chile

²⁶U.K. Centre for Ecology & Hydrology, Wallingford, OX10 8BB, U.K.

²⁷ Senckenberg Biodiversity and Climate Research Centre (SBiK-F), Senckenberganlage 25, Frankfurt am Main, 60325, Germany

²⁸Ecology, Department of Biology, University of Konstanz, Universitätsstrasse 10, Constance, 78457, Germany

²⁹ Zhejiang Provincial Key Laboratory of Plant Evolutionary Ecology and Conservation, Taizhou University, Taizhou, 318000, China

³⁰ Estación Biológica de Doñana (EBD-CSIC), Avd. Américo Vespucio 26, Isla de la Cartuja, Sevilla, 41092, Spain

³¹Department of Plant Biology and Ecology, University of Sevilla, Sevilla, Spain

³²Forestry and Agricultural Biotechnology Institute (FABI), University of Pretoria, Pretoria, South Africa

* Address for correspondence (Tel: +420 271015266; E-mail: pysek@ibot.cas.cz).

This is an open access article under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

1511

Biological Reviews 95 (2020) 1511–1534 © 2020 The Authors. Biological Reviews published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd on behalf of Cambridge Philosophical Society.

ABSTRACT

Biological invasions are a global consequence of an increasingly connected world and the rise in human population size. The numbers of invasive alien species – the subset of alien species that spread widely in areas where they are not native, affecting the environment or human livelihoods – are increasing. Synergies with other global changes are exacerbating current invasions and facilitating new ones, thereby escalating the extent and impacts of invaders. Invasions have complex and often immense long-term direct and indirect impacts. In many cases, such impacts become apparent or problematic only when invaders are well established and have large ranges. Invasive alien species break down biogeographic realms, affect native species richness and abundance, increase the risk of native species extinction, affect the genetic composition of native populations, change native animal behaviour, alter phylogenetic diversity across communities, and modify trophic networks. Many invasive alien species also change ecosystem functioning and the delivery of ecosystem services by altering nutrient and contaminant cycling, hydrology, habitat structure, and disturbance regimes. These biodiversity and ecosystem impacts are accelerating and will increase further in the future. Scientific evidence has identified policy strategies to reduce future invasions, but these strategies are often insufficiently implemented. For some nations, notably Australia and New Zealand, biosecurity has become a national priority. There have been long-term successes, such as eradication of rats and cats on increasingly large islands and biological control of weeds across continental areas. However, in many countries, invasions receive little attention. Improved international cooperation is crucial to reduce the impacts of invasive alien species on biodiversity, ecosystem services, and human livelihoods. Countries can strengthen their biosecurity regulations to implement and enforce more effective management strategies that should also address other global changes that interact with invasions.

Key words: biological invasions, biosecurity, global change, environmental impacts, invasion dynamics, invasion hotspots, naturalization, policy, protected areas, socioeconomic impacts

CONTENTS

I.	Introduction	. 1513
	(1) Relevance to Scientists' warning initiative	.1513
	(2) What is an invasive alien species?	.1513
	(3) Aims and scope of the paper	.1513
II.	Where do we stand? The state of biological invasions	. 1513
	(1) Global extent of invasions	.1513
	(2) Introduction pathways	.1515
	(3) Driving factors	.1516
	(4) Dynamics of invasions	.1517
	(5) Invasions in protected areas	.1517
III.	Why should we care? The impacts of biological invasions	. 1518
	(1) Environmental impacts	.1518
	(2) Impacts on human well-being and livelihoods	.1520
IV.	What tools do we have? Instruments, regulations and management	. 1520
	(1) International agreements, legislation, and voluntary self-regulation	.1520
	(2) National biosecurity programs	.1523
	(3) Technological advances in management: from classical control to gene editing	.1523
	(4) Surveillance and monitoring: the key role of citizen science	.1524
V.	Invasions in the future: what's next?	. 1524
VI.	Research priorities	. 1525
	(1) Invasions require both local- and global-scale solutions	.1525
	(2) Management interventions need to be objectively prioritized	.1526
	(3) Protected areas need special attention	.1526
	(4) More effective protocols are needed for engaging with the public and societal actors	.1526
	(5) Forecasting and scenario development must give more attention to synergies of invasions with clima	lte
	change and other environmental changes	.1526
VII.	Conclusions	. 1526
VIII.	Acknowledgements	. 1527
IX.	References	. 1527

Biological Reviews 95 (2020) 1511–1534 © 2020 The Authors. Biological Reviews published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd on behalf of Cambridge Philosophical Society.

I. INTRODUCTION

(1) Relevance to Scientists' warning initiative

Nearly three decades ago, a community of eminent scientists warned that humans were on a collision course with the natural world. They cited concerns regarding ozone depletion, freshwater availability, marine life depletion, ocean dead zones, forest loss, biodiversity destruction, climate change, and continued human population growth (Union of Concerned Scientists, 1992). Twenty-five years later, Ripple *et al.* (2017) evaluated the human response based on their analysis of time-series data and concluded that humanity had failed to make sufficient progress over that period in dealing with the environmental challenges. Indeed, they concluded that most of these problems had worsened. The original 1992 call was supported by more than 1,700 scientists, while 25 years later over 15,000 scientists added their signatures to the recent declaration (Ripple *et al.*, 2017).

Comparing the two documents reveals an important difference in focus as regards biodiversity loss and species extinctions. With respect to biodiversity, the 1992 warning explicitly highlighted deforestation, species loss, and climate change but did not mention invasive alien species (IAS). However, in the second call, besides stressing the need to respond to indirect drivers of biodiversity loss (e.g. to limit population growth, reassess the role of an economy rooted in growth, or reduce greenhouse gas emissions), Ripple et al. (2017) addressed options available to alter biodiversity decline, such as protecting and restoring ecosystems, halting defaunation, and constraining the spread of IAS. Since 1992, the importance of taking action against IAS globally has been widely recognized (Millennium Ecosystem Assessment, 2005). IAS are, for example, listed among the major indicators of global biodiversity decline (Butchart et al., 2010). The recent global assessment report on biodiversity and ecosystem services by the Intergovernmental Science-Policy Platform on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services (IPBES) ranked IAS fifth among direct drivers of change in nature with the largest relative global impacts, after changes in land and sea use, direct exploitation of organisms, climate change, and pollution (Brondizio et al., 2019). As the next step, the IPBES has initiated a global assessment on IAS that will also address management and policy needs and is expected to deliver results by 2023.

(2) What is an invasive alien species?

Alien species (as opposed to native species) are those whose presence in a region is attributable to human actions, deliberate or inadvertent, that enabled them to overcome biogeographical barriers (Richardson *et al.*, 2000; Pyšek *et al.*, 2004; Richardson, Pyšek, & Carlton, 2011; Essl *et al.*, 2018). Some alien species become established (i.e. they reproduce regularly to form self-replacing populations); a subset of these spread rapidly over substantial distances from introduction sites, a process that forms the basis for the definition of invasive species (Richardson *et al.*, 2000; Occhipinti-Ambrogi & Galil, 2004; Pyšek *et al.*, 2004; Blackburn *et al.*, 2011). Another definition, supported by the International Union for Conservation of Nature (IUCN), the Convention on Biological Diversity, and the World Trade Organization, classifies as 'invasive' only those alien species that have a harmful effect on the economy, environment, or health (IUCN, 2000).

(3) Aims and scope of the paper

To support global initiatives addressing the loss of biodiversity and ecosystem services, this paper presents a comprehensive global overview of a major environmental change invasion by alien species. We (i) appraise the current state of biological invasions in marine, freshwater, and terrestrial ecosystems; (ii) show that current societal responses are insufficient to address impacts of IAS on ecosystems, biodiversity, and human well-being and to mitigate future risks; and (iii) argue that a warning to humanity regarding the threats posed by IAS is both timely and relevant to complement other focused papers pointing to current threats to nature and the importance of nature for humans (e.g. Finlayson et al., 2019; Mammola et al., 2019; Cardoso et al., 2020). Given the recent rise and intensity of research on IAS at a global scale (e.g. Early et al., 2016; Paini et al., 2016; Dawson et al., 2017; Seebens et al., 2017), we provide a detailed update on the extent of invasions and their impacts worldwide, identify drivers that promote invasions, and explore how invasions interact with other biodiversity stressors and global changes. We emphasize that as our knowledge increases the problems associated with invasions are becoming clearer and require urgent increased attention, and that policy makers and the public should prioritize actions to stem invasions and their impacts. We address four questions that must be answered as the basis for mitigating problems associated with biological invasions. (i) Where do we stand? (ii) Why should we care? (iii) What tools are available to deal with these problems? (iv) What comes next? We treat these questions separately and then provide recommendations for policy, management, and research.

II. WHERE DO WE STAND? THE STATE OF BIOLOGICAL INVASIONS

(1) Global extent of invasions

The availability and accessibility of global data on alien organisms and their distribution have improved greatly over the last few decades. Comprehensive accounts are now available on established and/or invasive alien species of vascular plants (van Kleunen *et al.*, 2015, 2019; Pyšek *et al.*, 2017*b*), bryophytes (Essl *et al.*, 2015), terrestrial snails (Capinha *et al.*, 2015), ants, spiders [see Dawson *et al.*, 2017), amphibians (Capinha *et al.*, 2017), reptiles (Kraus, 2009, 2015; Capinha

et al., 2017), birds (Blackburn, Cassey, & Lockwood, 2008; Blackburn, Lockwood, & Cassey, 2009; Dyer et al., 2017; Dyer, Redding, & Blackburn, 2017), and mammals (Long, 2003; Dawson et al., 2017), and many of the global hotspots of established alien species across taxa have been identified (Fig. 1). Additional comprehensive accounts are available for many alien taxa at continental, regional, or national scales. These databases and analyses of ecological patterns and impacts associated with alien species have resulted from large international collaborations and rapid technological developments including data-sharing and analysis tools. The IUCN SSC Invasive Species Specialist Group maintains two global databases: the Global Invasive Species Database (www.iucngisd.org), which contains profiles of key IAS, and the Global Register of Introduced and Invasive Alien Species (www.griis.org; Pagad et al., 2018), which was developed with a mandate of the Convention on Biological Diversity (CBD) and collates data on alien species in all taxonomic groups for all nations (Pagad et al., 2015, 2018). Projects such as DAISIE [Delivering Alien Species Inventories for Europe (DAISIE, 2009; Hulme et al., 2009)], USGS reports on alien species (Fuller & Neilson, 2015; Simpson & Eyler, 2018), NOBANIS (North European and Baltic Network on Invasive Alien Species; www.nobanis.org), and NEMESIS (https://invasions.si.edu/nemesis) exemplify cross-taxonomic initiatives that have produced such databases for particular

regions (Hulme & Weser, 2011). The CABI Invasive Species Compendium is another detailed source of information. The World Register of Introduced Marine Species (WRiMS) records many of the marine species included in the World Register of Marine species (WRoMS) that have been introduced deliberately or accidentally (Pagad et al., 2018; Ahyong et al., 2019). The FAO Database on Introductions of Aquatic Species (DIAS) contains mostly data on the distribution of alien freshwater taxa, particularly fishes, molluscs, and crustaceans (FAO, 2019). Detailed critical assessments also exist of the introduction status of several groups, for example trees and shrubs (Rejmánek & Richardson, 2013). However, for some important groups of organisms, particularly many invertebrates and microorganisms, data on alien species distributions are still very limited (Fisher et al., 2012; Thakur et al., 2019), and regional biases also exist in terms of data availability associated with socioeconomic status and development (Pyšek et al., 2008; Nuñez & Pauchard, 2010).

Through these efforts, we now have a good knowledge of the numbers of established and – to a lesser extent – invasive alien species for many taxonomic groups in various regions and estimates of their total numbers globally. For vascular plants, the most recent figures report ~14,000 species with established alien populations in at least one region, constituting ~4% of the world flora. North America and Europe have accumulated the largest numbers of established alien species.



Fig 1. Hotspots and coldspots of cross-taxon established alien species richness across eight taxonomic groups: vascular plants, ants, spiders, freshwater fishes, amphibians, reptiles, birds, and mammals, calculated as in Dawson *et al.* (2017). Cross-taxon values were calculated as averages of established alien species richness per taxonomic group (scaled according to the maximum value) in a region with data available. Only TDWG level-4 regions (countries, federal states and islands/archipelagos) that were modelled by Dawson *et al.* (2017) were included (N = 439). Cross-taxon established alien species richness of grey-bordered regions was calculated from three or fewer taxonomic groups, and of black-bordered regions from four or more taxonomic groups. Cross-taxon established alien species richness is displayed in percentile categories; upper and lower 2.5% and 10% regions are indicated separately from the remaining upper and lower 50% regions. Regions filled in grey lacked information on established alien species (Antarctica was excluded from the analysis).

Continents in the Northern Hemisphere have been the major donors of established alien plant species to other continents, and biomes in the New World and in temperate and mediterranean-type climates are generally more invaded than those in arid and warm climates (van Kleunen *et al.*, 2015, 2019; Pyšek *et al.*, 2017*b*). Estimates of the total number of invasive alien plant species suggest that ~2500 species have achieved this status (Pagad *et al.*, 2015); South Africa, India, California, Cuba, Florida, Queensland, and Japan are regions with the highest numbers of reported invasive plant species (Pyšek *et al.*, 2017*b*).

For invertebrates, a global database of alien species richness of terrestrial gastropods documents that at least 175 species have become established across 56 countries. These data show that human-mediated dispersal has broken down biogeographic barriers defined by native species distributions (Capinha et al., 2015). Most crayfish species in Europe today are alien (10 established alien species versus five natives), and the aliens also reach much higher abundances (Kouba, Petrusek, & Kozák, 2014). Alien insect species outnumber invasions of all other animal taxa, with North America having the greatest number of non-native insects (~3200 species; Liebhold et al., 2018). Microbes including animal and plant pathogens are arguably the most poorly documented of all IAS. This is largely due to their small size, taxonomic challenges, and difficulties in determining whether taxa are native or alien in particular environments (Fisher et al., 2012; Cowan et al., 2013; Crous, Hawksworth, & Wingfield, 2015; Thakur et al., 2019). Similarly, alien fungi are insufficiently studied (Roy et al., 2017).

Invasions by vertebrates are relatively well documented. A global database of freshwater fish distributions in 3,119 drainage basins shows that 8,128 inter-basin introductions of 745 alien species (of $\sim 15,000$ freshwater fish species globally) have led to established alien populations (Tedesco et al., 2017). The Colorado (100 species) and Mississippi (73 species) basins have the most established alien fish species. The greatest proportions of established alien fish species are found in temperate regions of Europe, North America, and South America (FAO, 2019). For birds, currently the beststudied group of vertebrate invaders, Dyer et al. (2017) collated data on more than 3,660 dated introductions, involving 971 species, from 1500 to 2000; 37% of these species have become established. Notable hotspots of alien bird species richness are the United States (including the Hawaiian Islands), the Caribbean, UK, Japan, Taiwan, Hong Kong, New Zealand, Australia, Persian Gulf States, and the Mascarene Islands, largely driven by spatial patterns of deliberate population introduction (Dyer et al., 2017). A global study of other vertebrate groups documented 78 and 198 alien amphibian and reptile species, respectively, established in at least one of the 359 world regions considered; invasions of herptiles are accelerating rapidly, particularly on islands (Capinha et al., 2017).

Globally, a recent analysis revealed that islands and coastal mainland regions are hotspots of established alien species richness across multiple taxonomic groups (Dawson et al., 2017; Fig. 1). Regions with high per capita gross domestic product, high human population densities, and large surface areas support the most established alien species, probably because these characteristics are positively related to the numbers of alien species introduced. The three regions with the most established alien species, after accounting for area, are the Hawaiian Islands, New Zealand's North Island, and the Lesser Sunda Islands of Indonesia. The Hawaiian Islands, long known for devastating environmental impacts of biological invasions (Vitousek, Loope, & Stone, 1987), harbour many alien species in all taxonomic groups considered, including in the marine environment (Carlton & Eldredge, 2015). Almost half of New Zealand's flora consists of alien plants (Essl et al., 2019a; Hulme, 2020), and predatory mammals have been a major problem for naïve native bird species that evolved without native mammal predators. Florida is the top hotspot for alien species among continental regions, with the Burmese python (Python bivittatus) as a well-known reptile example (Dorcas et al., 2012). These global patterns can tell us which regions have the greatest numbers of naturalized and invasive alien species, but they do not tell us how the management burden they impose can be reduced. This requires us to consider, amongst other things, how species have been introduced.

(2) Introduction pathways

The Strategic Plan for Biodiversity (2011-2020) of the CBD calls for urgent action by the Parties (i.e. signatory States) to identify and prioritize alien species pathways and to implement measures to manage pathways to prevent alien species introduction and establishment (CBD, 2014). Six broad mechanisms by which alien species might be introduced to a region have been described (Hulme et al., 2008): deliberate release (e.g. game animals, sport fishes, pets); escape from captivity (e.g. ornamental garden plants, pets); contaminants of commodities (e.g. weed seeds, pest insects, microbial pathogens); stowaways on transport vectors (e.g. marine organisms fouling ship hulls or in ballast water, latent endophytic pathogens in plants); via anthropogenic corridors (such as through the Suez and Panama Canals); or unaided spread from other invaded regions. The intentional pathways 'escape' and 'release' are most important for plants and vertebrates, whereas for invertebrates, algae, fungi, and microorganisms, unintentional 'contaminant' and 'stowaway' transport pathways prevail; representation of these pathways differs only slightly among marine, freshwater, and terrestrial environments (Saul et al., 2017). On average, IAS with the highest impacts are associated with multiple pathways (Pergl et al., 2017).

Historically, many species were deliberately released for economic, recreational, or aesthetic benefits (Lever, 1992). Although authorities are much more cautious today about such releases and generally impose stricter controls on introductions than previously, there are new challenges. For example, some conservationists advocate translocating individuals of certain species threatened by climate change to new regions predicted to favour population persistence. This strategy, termed managed relocation or assisted migration/ colonization, often involves moving species to sites where they are not currently found and may never have been native (Loss, Terwilliger, & Peterson, 2011). This approach can potentially launch invasions (Ricciardi & Simberloff, 2009), and plans to undertake such movements must be carefully assessed (Richardson *et al.*, 2009), because such relocations are in their infancy and lack evidence that they will achieve their goals. However, from historic intentional introductions of biocontrol agents, several examples of unexpected nontarget effects are famous (e.g. cane toad *Bufo marinus*; Shanmuganathan *et al.*, 2010).

Ornamental plants have escaped from gardens for centuries (Hanspach et al., 2008), and ornamental horticulture continues to be a major driver of alien plant invasions (van Kleunen et al., 2018), even in protected areas (Foxcroft, Richardson, & Wilson, 2008). The dramatic recent growth in trade of unusual pets is another growing threat (Lockwood et al., 2019). Europe alone contains an estimated 54 million individual ornamental birds, 28 million small mammals, 14 million aquaria fishes, and nine million reptiles owned as pets; many of these species can establish outside of captivity, especially under future climate scenarios (Hulme, 2015). These pets might also be important vectors of animal and human diseases, particularly those pets sourced from the wild (Day, 2011). Despite such threats, movement of endo- and ectoparasitic contaminants remains largely unregulated (Hulme, 2014b) and becomes even more difficult to manage effectively in an era of a rapidly growing 'bioweb' of online commerce of living species (Carlton, 2011).

Global shipping expanded enormously after World War II and is projected to increase rapidly in the coming decades (Sardain, Sardain, & Leung, 2019). Consequently, many thousands of species may be transported around the world as stowaways in ballast water (Carlton & Geller, 1993) and as contaminants of transported goods to regions that are becoming increasingly susceptible to new invasions owing to climate warming. Marine invasions are also being exacerbated by the dramatic increase in use of non-biodegradable plastics since the second half of the 20th century, depositing billions of tons of plastics globally at the land-sea interface. A new mechanism for ocean rafting is created when these plastics are swept into the ocean by tsunamis or by the increasing (owing to climate change; Peduzzi et al., 2012) number and size of cyclonic storms (hurricanes, monsoons, typhoons). Whereas biodegradable trees, root masses, seeds, and other ephemeral materials such as pumice facilitated natural dispersal of species across oceans for millions of years, plastics create rafts that can last for decades, permitting more species to be transported as passengers far longer and further (Carlton et al., 2017). Canals have been instrumental in linking once-separated biogeographical regions and facilitating the spread of IAS, with many such corridors expanded to permit larger vessels (Hulme, 2015) and new ones proposed

for construction (e.g. the Nicaragua Canal; Huete-Perez, Meyer, & Avarez, 2015).

A worrying new global corridor has emerged since the end of the 20th century - the permanent opening of the Arctic Ocean is increasingly permitting the flow of species (presumably both marine and terrestrial) between the Atlantic and Pacific Oceans. As with ocean plastic rafting, we have yet to fully grasp the short- and long-term consequences of the disappearance of the ice-bound Arctic, which has long formed an impassable barrier between oceans and continents (Ricciardi et al., 2017). The dissolution of this northern ice cap now opens a huge corridor, not only for species moving north and for species moving between the Atlantic and Pacific Oceans by ocean currents, but for new fleets of exploratory, cargo, fishing, and tourist vessels, which will inadvertently transport marine and terrestrial species (Ricciardi et al., 2017; Chan et al., 2018). By contrast, the Antarctic is land surrounded by ocean, with a circumpolar current that, while long isolating the continent, may now be bridged by increasing climate-induced storm-driven dispersal (Fraser et al., 2018; Avila et al., 2020). Antarctica has been described as the "final frontier for marine biological invasions" (McCarthy et al., 2019, p. 2221), with formerly ice-bound shores now available for colonization by poleward-moving species. Invasions in Antarctica are being accelerated by new facilities and new forms of tourism accompanied by increased ship traffic, such that more alien species have already been observed (Huiskes et al., 2014; McGeoch et al., 2015; Cardenas et al., 2020) and even more are predicted (Duffy et al., 2017; Hughes et al., 2020).

Many terrestrial species are also accidentally transported in trade. For example, wood packaging material often harbours bark and wood-boring insects and microbes; recent increases in trade have produced an explosion of tree-killing insects and pathogens introduced to new regions (Aukema et al., 2010; Paap et al., 2018), with large impacts on forests (Seidl et al., 2018; Fei et al., 2019). Pathogens have been moved with apparently healthy plant germplasm as part of the natural endophytic microbiome, only to emerge as aggressive plant pathogens in new environments. This pathway of introduction has only recently been recognized through the emergence of metagenomic technologies and is particularly relevant for microbial invasives (Marsberg et al., 2017). Invasive alien species are also increasingly spreading without direct human assistance from one region where they have been introduced to other regions. Examples include the ruddy duck (Oxyura jamaicensis) migrating from the UK to Spain, or the currant-lettuce aphid (Nasonovia ribisnign), dispersing on wind currents from New Zealand to Tasmania and subsequently throughout Australia. This unaided pathway poses major challenges for international regulation as well as biosecurity measures within individual countries (Hulme, 2015).

(3) Driving factors

The number, rate, and magnitude of biological invasions are shaped by both direct and indirect drivers. Direct drivers of

invasion can be both natural and anthropogenic and directly affect species physiology, behaviour, and/or demography. Among the best-studied direct drivers are climate change (Walther et al., 2009), land-use change providing new habitats (Chytrý et al., 2008, 2009), pollution (Crooks, Chang, & Ruiz, 2011), and the facilitative effect of other alien species through a process termed invasional meltdown (Simberloff & Von Holle, 1999; Braga et al., 2018; Redding et al., 2019). Indirect drivers mostly operate diffusely by altering and influencing direct drivers, as well as other indirect drivers. They do not impact alien species directly but instead do so by affecting the level, direction, or rate of direct drivers. Global indirect drivers include economic, demographic, governance, technological, and cultural processes. For example, a well-known correlate of alien species richness is economic activity, frequently measured by gross domestic product (Hulme, 2009; Pyšek et al., 2010). Economic activity acts directly by increasing probabilities of species introductions (Hanspach et al., 2008; Maurel et al., 2016; Dyer et al., 2017) or indirectly through other variables, such as the movement of particular commodities, eutrophication, or the intensity of anthropogenic disturbance (Pyšek et al., 2010). By contrast, issues such as governance, culture, or the role of institutions as indirect drivers of biological invasions have been understudied. This may be an important oversight that substantially impedes our understanding of alien species introductions.

Invasive alien species often drive change, but they can also be passengers of other human-caused alterations, such as habitat degradation or climate change, that promote colonization and invasion (Didham *et al.*, 2005; MacDougall & Turkington, 2005). Urban habitats are well documented as hotspots of alien plant species establishment and spread because of high colonization and propagule pressures resulting from trade, traffic, horticulture, and frequent and intense disturbances (Hulme, 2009; Kühn, Wolf, & Schneider, 2017). Although studies on the role of human-induced disturbance in animal invasions are less conclusive (Nordheimer & Jeschke, 2018), such research provides a strong signal that biological invasions should be considered together with other global changes.

(4) Dynamics of invasions

The acceleration of alien species introductions and invasions has been highlighted for several regions (Hulme *et al.*, 2009). The recent IPBES biodiversity and ecosystem services global assessment estimates that numbers of IAS per country have risen by about 70% since 1970 across the 21 countries with detailed records (Brondizio *et al.*, 2019). The most robust analysis of long-term temporal trends in biological invasions is based on more than 45,000 first records of over 16,000 alien species that became established following introduction (Seebens *et al.*, 2017). These data facilitated an analysis of the accumulation of alien species over long periods, showing that for all groups of organisms on all continents, the numbers of alien species have increased continuously over the last 200 years (Fig. 2). Indeed, for most taxonomic groups, rates of first recorded introductions are higher now than at any other time, no signs of a slow-down are evident, and many new invasions will be discovered in the near future given the typical time lags between introductions, establishment, and spread (Crooks, 2005; Jeschke & Strayer, 2005). Because 37% of all recorded alien species have become established recently, between 1970 and 2014 (Seebens *et al.*, 2017), we can expect many more cases of establishment in the future if new arrivals are left unchecked.

The growing number of alien species introductions and their subsequent establishment highlights the urgent need for more effective measures for prevention, early detection, and control of IAS (Seebens *et al.*, 2017). Even after many centuries of invasions, the rate of emergence of new alien species is still high: as many as a quarter of first records for the period 2000–2005 were of species not previously recorded as alien species anywhere in the world. These emerging alien species have no invasion history; their potential spread and impacts will therefore be difficult to predict (Seebens *et al.*, 2018). For this reason, and because the extent and magnitude of other global-change factors are changing rapidly, predicting future invasions and their impacts based on the dynamics of historical invasions is likely to lead to a substantial underestimate.

(5) Invasions in protected areas

Protected areas cover $\sim 13\%$ of the terrestrial world (Jenkins & Joppa, 2009), with freshwater often included among the figure for terrestrial areas (Juffe-Bignoli et al., 2016), and $\sim 7.7\%$ of the ocean (www.protectedplanet.net); they are a key component of the societal response to environmental degradation (Gaston et al., 2008; Conroy et al., 2011). However, protected areas remain vulnerable to invasions: they suffer from impacts at the species and community levels, through the alteration of habitats, regime shifts, and through diverse undesired effects on native species abundance, diversity, and richness (Foxcroft et al., 2013; Hulme et al., 2014). Few protected areas are completely free of alien plants (Foxcroft et al., 2017), and alien plants can invade natural areas that have not experienced obvious anthropogenic disturbances, such as the Gros Morne National Park in boreal Canada (Rose & Hermanutz, 2004). In 2007, a Global Invasive Species Program (GISP) report identified 487 protected areas globally where invasive alien plants threaten biodiversity (De Poorter, 2007). At the continental scale, the problem is also accelerating. For example, as early as the 1980s, alien plants and animals were perceived as threatening natural resources in 300 areas managed by the USA National Park Service (Houston & Schreiner, 1995). Invasive plants are almost universally regarded as a major threat by managers of protected areas (Goodman, 2003; Randall, 2011; Pyšek et al., 2013). Even in high-elevation protected areas, in isolated mountain landscapes, invasive alien species have become a problem (Alexander et al., 2016).

These trends have sometimes been reversed following the implementation of control efforts (Simberloff *et al.*, 2011, 2018;



Fig 2. Increase in cumulative established alien species richness across six taxonomic groups in four regions of the world. Time series are based on the year of first record of those alien species that later became established in the given region (based on Seebens *et al.*, 2017).

Shackleton et al., 2020), and several studies have shown that protected area boundaries provide some resistance to colonization by alien plants (Lonsdale, 1999; Pyšek, Jarošík, & Kučera, 2003; Foxcroft et al., 2011). However, as human populations adjacent to many protected areas are growing rapidly (Wittemver et al., 2008), colonization and propagule pressures will increase. More research is needed to strengthen management actions (Foxcroft et al., 2017), because, for example, few assessments or studies on the impacts of invasions in protected areas provide management recommendations (Genovesi & Monaco, 2013; Hulme et al., 2014). For plants, a global assessment showed that 37% of 282 quantitative studies on impacts of IAS in the peer-reviewed literature originated from research in protected areas. However, geographical biases are evident - much more research has been conducted in the Americas and on Pacific Islands than in Africa, Asia, and Europe (Hulme et al., 2014). A fundamental problem is that current approaches for estimating human pressures on protected areas rely mainly on land-use changes such as those used in compiling the human footprint index (Jones et al., 2018). This index, which quantifies conversion of land to agriculture, urbanization, and human infrastructure, significantly underestimates (or overlooks) impacts of IAS in regions perceived to have low human pressures (Hulme, 2018). For example, it ignores the potential for triggering ecosystem regime shifts (Gaertner et al., 2014).

An important question is how effective protected areas will be in protecting native species and ecosystems from impacts caused by invasions under accelerating climate change (Baron *et al.*, 2009). By investigating current and future potential distributions of 100 of the most invasive terrestrial, freshwater, and marine species in Europe, Gallardo *et al.* (2017) evaluated the combined threat posed by invasions and climate change. They found that the predicted richness of IAS was 11–18% lower inside than outside protected areas. They concluded that protected areas can provide strategic refugia for native species and recommended prioritizing actions to protect them from incursions of IAS spreading under climate change.

III. WHY SHOULD WE CARE? THE IMPACTS OF BIOLOGICAL INVASIONS

(1) Environmental impacts

Given the many pressing environmental issues, one must ask how prominently biological invasions should feature in political and public agendas? The magnitude and variety of impacts of IAS provide an unambiguous reason for much more urgent attention to be given to invasions. Research on invasion impacts has developed rapidly over the past decade (Ricciardi et al., 2013; Anton et al., 2019), yielding improved understanding of mechanisms underlying these impacts and development of a sound theoretical basis and conceptual frameworks (Jeschke et al., 2014; Kumschick et al., 2015b, 2017). Such advances have paved the way for developing tools for quantitative impact assessment and for

the practical application of such protocols in biodiversity conservation and environmental management (Blackburn et al., 2014; Hawkins et al., 2015; Nentwig et al., 2016). Invasive alien species affect native species richness and abundance (Vilà et al., 2011; Pyšek et al., 2012; Kumschick et al., 2015a; Cameron, Vilà, & Cabeza, 2016; Gallardo et al., 2016) and have broken down biogeographical realms (Capinha et al., 2015), and they hinder ecosystem functioning and provision of ecosystem services (Gaertner et al., 2014; Vilà & Hulme, 2017; Castro-Díez et al., 2019). They can increase the risk of native species extinction, affect the genetic composition of native populations, modify the phylogenetic and functional diversity of invaded communities and trophic networks, and alter ecosystem productivity, nutrient and contaminant cycling, hydrology, and disturbance regimes (e.g. Brooks et al., 2004; Suarez & Tsutsui, 2008; Kenis et al., 2009; Ricciardi et al., 2013; Blackburn, Bellard, & Ricciardi, 2019).

Impacts of alien species vary greatly across species, regions, and ecosystems (Blackburn et al., 2014) and depend on the abundance of the alien species and their trophic levels relative to those of affected native species (Hejda, Pyšek, & Jarošík, 2009; Bradley et al., 2019). For invasive plants, 63% of studies that have measured impacts found significant differences in species, community, or ecosystem characteristics compared to the situation prior to invasion, and impacts are far more likely to occur on resident plant and animal richness on islands than on mainlands (Pyšek et al., 2012). Many invasive alien plants modify ecosystems in ways that enhance their own persistence and suppress native species through reinforcing feedbacks, causing regime shifts (altered states of ecosystem structure and function that are difficult or impossible to reverse). Examples include impacts on soil-nutrient cycling caused by invasive trees and shrubs in forests and by herbaceous invaders in wetlands, through modifying the composition of soil seed banks and changed fire regimes (Gaertner et al., 2014; Gioria, Jarošík, & Pyšek, 2014; Shackleton et al., 2018) and altering microbial communities (Bowen et al., 2017). The IAS with the greatest impacts emerge from all taxonomic groups, as illustrated by the example of Europe. The European list of aliens with highest impacts includes 149 species: 54 plants, 49 invertebrates, 40 vertebrates, and six fungi. Among the highest-ranking species are one bird species (Canada goose Branta canadensis), four mammals (Norway rat Rattus norvegicus, muskrat Ondatra zibethicus, Sika deer Cervus nippon, Reeve's muntjac Muntiacus reevesi), one crayfish (Procambarus clarkii), the varroa mite (Varroa destructor), and four plants (silver wattle Acacia dealbata, red sage Lantana camara, kudzu Pueraria lobata, water hyacinth Eichhornia crassipes) (Nentwig et al., 2018).

Extinctions owing to IAS constitute a special case of the ultimate threat to biodiversity and conservation (Bellard, Cassey, & Blackburn, 2016; Blackburn, Bellard, & Ricciardi, 2019). Invasive alien species are listed as one driver of extinction for 261 of 782 animal species and in 39 of 153 plant species worldwide; for both groups, IAS rank as the most frequent cause, ahead of hunting, harvesting, and agriculture (Blackburn, Bellard, & Ricciardi, 2019). The most vulnerable species are island endemics that have limited experience of mammalian predators or herbivores and nowhere to escape to [see Pyšek *et al.*, 2017a; Blackburn, Bellard, & Ricciardi, 2019 and references therein]. Observational evidence comparing alien plants, mammals, reptiles, fishes, molluscs, earthworms, and insects as causes of population declines or extinctions of native taxa suggests that alien predators are far more likely than alien competitors to cause the extinction of native species (Pyšek et al., 2017a). Notable predators include alien vertebrates and molluscs (Table 1). Plants (e.g. red cinchona Cinchona pubescens on the Galapágos Islands, strawberry guava Psidium cattleianum on Mauritius) and insects (e.g. cactus moth Cactoblastis cactorum in North America, harlequin ladybird Harmonia axvridis in Europe; Fig. 3) are all known to reduce population sizes of native species. Several fungal pathogens also significantly affect their host species in the new ranges (e.g. Batrachochytrium dendrobatidis on amphibians, Ophiostoma novo-ulmi on European elm trees Ulmus minor). One must also consider that native species, even if not yet driven to local or global extinction, often suffer from population declines attributable to IAS, and many now exist only as remnant populations (Downey & Richardson, 2016; Pyšek et al., 2017a). These declines can also cause interspecific interactions to be lost long before species disappear, affecting ecosystem function and services more severely than would be inferred from the rate of species extinctions (Valiente-Banuet et al., 2015). Thus, calls to downplay invasion impacts by citing short-term regional increases in total biodiversity caused by alien species are misleading, as are suggestions that losses caused by invasions will be counterbalanced by 'new speciation' (Richardson & Ricciardi, 2013; Pauchard et al., 2018).

An argument that appears occasionally in the literature is that the impacts of alien species on biodiversity and ecosystem functioning are similar to those of widespread, dominant native species [e.g. Davis et al., 2011, but see Simberloff et al., 2011]. However, contrary evidence is accumulating (e.g. Paolucci, MacIsaac, & Ricciardi, 2013; Buckley & Catford, 2016; Hejda, Štajerová, & Pyšek, 2017). A recent analysis of data on global extinctions in the *IUCN Red List* database (IUCN, 2017) revealed that alien species contributed to 25% of plant extinctions and 33% of terrestrial and freshwater animal extinctions; these figures are an order of magnitude higher than for native species, which were implicated in fewer than 5% and 3% of plant and animal extinctions, respectively (Blackburn, Bellard, & Ricciardi, 2019). For the USA, established alien plant species are 40 times more likely to be problematic for local ecosystems than are native species (Simberloff et al., 2012).

The impact of invasions driving biodiversity change must be considered not only on its own (as are drivers listed by Ripple *et al.*, 2017) but in concert with other drivers, such as climate or land-use change (Bradford *et al.*, 2007; Walther *et al.*, 2009; Schweiger *et al.*, 2010; Hulme, 2011b; Chytrý *et al.*, 2012). One example of an exacerbating interaction is the predicted future effect of climate, socioeconomic factors, and invasions on biodiversity hotspots. Socioeconomic factors, such as trade, have played a key role in the recent rapid spread of alien species. A study combining data on 60-year trends of bilateral trade among 147 countries with trends in biodiversity and climate showed particularly strong increases in established

Table 1. Examples of alien organisms acting as drivers of extinction or extirpation. Based on data in Blackburn, Bellard, & Ricciardi (2019) if not indicated otherwise. For plants there are no documented examples of extinctions attributable solely to plant invasions (Downey & Richardson, 2016). In many cases, invasive species interact with other facets of global change to cause extinctions of native species. For example, the native biota of Guam was affected by deforestation and pollution as well as by other invasive species such as rats or pigs which made populations of many native vertebrates prone to extinct through predation by the brown tree snake

Species	Taxon	Region	Impact
Euglandina rosea (rosy wolfsnail)	Mollusc	Pacific islands	Extinction of at least 134 snail species
Dreissena polymorpha (zebra mussel) and D. bugensis (quagga mussel)	Mollusc	North America	Extirpation of several dozen freshwater unionid bivalves
Lates niloticus (Nile perch)	Fish	Lake Victoria	Extinction of 200 endemic cichlid species
Boiga irregularis (brown tree snake)	Reptile	Guam	Extinction of many of Guam's native birds, lizards, and bats and several global extinctions
Felis catus (cat)	Mammal	Global	Extinction of at least 14 vertebrate species (birds, mammals, and reptiles)
Batrachochytrium dendrobatidis (amphibian chytrid fungus)	Fungus	Global	Confirmed or presumed extinction of 90 amphibian species (Scheele <i>et al.</i> , 2019)

plant numbers expected in the next 20 years for emerging economies in megadiverse regions. The interaction with predicted future climate change will increase invasions in northern temperate countries and reduce invasions in tropical and subtropical regions, but not sufficiently to balance the trade-related increase in the latter (Seebens *et al.*, 2015). In sum, although it is not always possible to disentangle the impacts of the different global change factors, it is now well established that invasions have major environmental impacts that should not be overlooked.

(2) Impacts on human well-being and livelihoods

Impacts of invasions on ecosystem services constitute a major threat to human well-being, particularly in developing countries where options for preventing and managing invasive species are limited. Both direct and indirect impacts are traditionally expressed in monetary terms that reach billions of euros or dollars annually, depending on the region considered, species evaluated, and methods applied (e.g. Zavaleta, 2000; Kettunen et al., 2009; Paini et al., 2016). However, impacts of biological invasions extend beyond monetary losses and affect all components of human well-being (Bacher et al., 2018). Invasive alien species can affect material and intangible assets to the extent that people must abandon farming or fishing and emigrate from their areas, as in the case of invasion by water hyacinth in Eastern Africa (Mujingni Epse Cho, 2012), where its cover in Lake Victoria made fishing grounds inaccessible, or the comb jelly Mnemiopsis leidyi, which led to the abandonment of anchovy fisheries in parts of the Black Sea because clogging of nets by this species made fishing impractical (Travis, 1993). Similarly, invasion of shrubs from the Tamarix genus in the southwestern USA degraded agricultural land and caused its abandonment in some areas (Zavaleta, 2000). Other alien species affect human safety, such as venomous fish (Plosotus lineatus) injuring fishermen in the eastern Mediterranean (Bentur et al., 2018; Galanidi, Zenetos, & Bacher, 2018) or the European wasp (Vespula germanica) threatening outdoor activities and causing costs associated with the nuisance of large colonies near homes in parts of Australia (Bashford, 2001; Cook, 2019).

Human health can be threatened in various ways (Pyšek & Richardson, 2010; Lazzaro *et al.*, 2018), including the spread of infections and diseases by alien pathogens (Hulme, 2014*b*; Morand, 2017). Alien species are also a significant source of 'pathogen pollution' (the human-mediated introduction of pathogens to new hosts or regions; Fisher *et al.*, 2012; Roy *et al.*, 2017). Moreover, alien species can vector pathogens (e.g. tiger mosquito, *Aedes albopictus*, for dengue fever; Hulme, 2014*b*; Brady & Hay, 2020), produce allergenic pollen (common ragweed, *Ambrosia artemisiifolia*; Richter *et al.*, 2013), and be poisonous (e.g. cane toad; Bacher *et al.*, 2018) or venomous (e.g. sea jellies; Kideys & Gucu, 1995).

Finally, alien species can disrupt cultural and social relationships, particularly in parts of the world where few management measures exist. The cane toad, for example, has caused the local extinction of native reptile and mammal species from northern Australia (Letnic, Webb, & Shine, 2008) used by Aborigines as totems, preventing continuation of these rituals (Bacher *et al.*, 2018). Moreover, alien species can reduce the values society places on specific ecosystems and landscapes (van Wilgen, Cowling, & Burgers, 1996; Kerr & Swaffield, 2012; Ghermandi *et al.*, 2015). In general, however, the impact of alien species on cultural services such as aesthetics is difficult to assess, because it is influenced by complex psychological and social processes that shape divergent and ambivalent perceptions of nature and of what is valued (Kueffer & Kull, 2017).

IV. WHAT TOOLS DO WE HAVE? INSTRUMENTS, REGULATIONS AND MANAGEMENT

(1) International agreements, legislation, and voluntary self-regulation

Invasion biologists and policy-makers generally agree that efficient responses to biological invasions require prioritizing



Fig 3. Examples of invasive alien species representing various taxonomic groups and environments. (A) Invasion of *Pinus pinaster* in the mountains of South Africa's Cape Floristic Region, transforming species-rich fynbos shrublands into species-poor pine forests and dramatically reducing streamflow from water catchments (photograph: A. Turner). (B) *Phormium tenax* invasion on St Helena (photograph: Helen Roy). (C) Forests defoliated by the gypsy moth (*Lymantria dispar*) in the USA (photograph: Karl Mierzejewski). (D) Japanese black pine (*Pinus thunbergii*) dying due to infestation by the pine wood nematode (*Bursaphelechus xylophilus*) (photograph: B. Slippers). (E) Harlequin ladybird (*Harmonia axyridis*) overwintering aggregation (photograph: Gilles san Martin). (F) Japanese buoy washed ashore in Maui, Hawaiian Islands, with living Asian species, including the rose barnacle (*Megabalanus rosa*) (photograph: Cheryl King). (G) Rose-ringed parakeet (*Psittacula krameri*) ('Parakeets in London in the Snow' by David Skinner, licensed under CC BY 2.0). (H) Wels catfish (*Silurus glanis*) attacking a pigeon at the Tarn river in Albi, France (photograph: Camille Musseau). (I) Invasive silver carp (*Hypophthalmichthys molitrix*) jumping in the Fox River, Wisconsin (provided by Asian Carp Regional Coordinating Committee).

measures to prevent the arrival of potentially invasive alien species, the timely management of incursions, and effective management of those already established (CBD, 2002; Simberloff *et al.*, 2013; McGeoch *et al.*, 2016). Achieving these goals requires implementing mechanisms to regulate the intentional introduction of alien species and identifying pathways and mitigation methods for unintentional arrivals. It also demands enforcing preventive measures and ensuring the timely deployment of protocols for detection and rapid response to deal with new incursions.

The number of national lists of harmful alien organisms has increased exponentially in the last 50 years, with more than 18,000 species currently listed (García de Lomas & Vilà, 2015). However, in many countries, responsibility for managing invasions is dispersed across different agencies. Better coordination of actions targeting IAS across sectors would be valuable (Keller et al., 2011). Protocols are needed to assess the feasibility of eradicating newly established IAS and to design cost-effective management of widespread IAS that cause the most severe impacts (McGeoch et al., 2015). The UN CBD introduced a commitment to endorse these principles in the 2011–2020 Global Biodiversity Strategy by adopting Aichi Target 9. Several reviews have highlighted the need for more action and the global inadequacy of current measures (Butchart et al., 2010; Tittensor et al., 2014), and the last decade has seen significant progress in this direction. Many countries have adopted lists of regulated species based on risk assessments, banning the import and trade of these organisms (Genovesi et al., 2014), or a white-list approach, whereby planned introductions of all non-native species are prohibited unless they are explicitly determined to be low-risk.

As a case study, New Zealand has set itself the ambitious goal to make the entire nation free of five invasive alien mammals (ship rats Rattus rattus, Norway rats Rattus norvegicus, Pacific rats Rattus exulans, brushtail possums Trichosurus vulpecula, and stoats Mustela erminea) by 2050 (Peltzer et al., 2019). If the predator-free goal is achieved, it will have major implications for conservation and pest management worldwide. However, the size of the challenge should not be underestimated. It will not be achieved by a simple 'scaling-up' of successful island eradications and application of new technologies but will require enduring integration of research, management, and societal elements to succeed. First, accomplishing this goal requires widespread community engagement, particularly in urban areas where alternative approaches to aerial poison drops will need to be developed. Nowhere in the world have rats been eradicated from an urban area; if New Zealand can achieve this, it will have major benefits for urban health worldwide. Second, future tools for eradicating mammalian predators, such as novel gene technologies, viral biological control, and new toxins, will challenge public perception of what is acceptable in a nation that is vehemently anti-GM. If a seismic shift in public attitudes towards the use of such technologies is achieved, this will open the door for much wider application of novel technologies to support management of pests

affecting agriculture and human health. Third, removing mammalian predators will have complex knock-on effects on poorly understood ecosystems. Achieving the predatorfree goal without irrevocably damaging the unique native ecosystems in New Zealand will require a step-change in ecological understanding and ability to restore ecosystems following eradication. Finally, eradication requires a new funding model that brings government, philanthropists, industry, and the general public together to support management that must endure over several decades. New Zealand is embarking on one of the largest social and environmental experiments ever envisaged, which, if well designed, will deliver conservation insights of worldwide relevance.

Identifying alien species that pose a high risk of causing damage plays a key role in national biosecurity programs. There has also been progress in defining priority IAS to be regulated and managed. This includes potential invaders identified by measuring their impacts using standardized methods (Blackburn et al., 2014) and through various horizon-scanning approaches (e.g. Roy et al., 2014, 2019). To this end, new tools have been developed for categorizing and classifying impacts: the EICAT scheme (Environmental Impact Classification for Alien Taxa) for evaluating environmental impacts (Blackburn et al., 2014) has been adopted by the IUCN as an official tool. The related SEICAT (Socioeconomic Impact Classification of Alien Taxa) scheme assesses socioeconomic impacts (Bacher et al., 2018). For freshwater biota, the Fish Invasiveness Screening Kit has been widely applied (Vilizzi et al., 2019). Ultimately, implementing efforts to prevent invasions must be based on comparing costs of prevention with benefits of averting invasion (e.g. Leung et al., 2014).

How successful have efforts to eradicate and manage invasions been? The first step in management is preventing species entry at the border. Countries in Europe with gaps in border control had more established quarantine species (Bacon, Bacher, & Aebi, 2012). Conversely, establishing more stringent phytosanitary controls at the border, including X-ray machines and detector dogs, has led to a progressive decline in the rate of fungal plant pathogens entering New Zealand (Sikes *et al.*, 2018). A global analysis showed that 251 eradications of invasive mammals on 181 islands resulted in improved conservation status of 236 native species (Jones *et al.*, 2016), and existing data show that a large proportion of eradication campaigns succeed (Pluess *et al.*, 2012; Tobin *et al.*, 2014; Simberloff *et al.*, 2018).

For Europe, some challenges have been successfully addressed through science-informed policies. A system of evidence-based risk assessment protocols has been introduced, and a scientific advisory group was established to work with policymakers on updating the EU legislation on IAS (Genovesi *et al.*, 2014). The list resulting from this legislation originally included only 37 taxa, omitting many important invaders, partly because all EU member countries must agree with each listing (Pergl, Genovesi, & Pyšek, 2016). After several updates, 66 species are now listed (https://ec.europa.eu/environment/nature/invasivealien/list/index en.

htm; as of 9 August 2019). The ongoing process of maintaining the list relies on collaboration between scientists and policymakers. The European example highlights the key components required to establish robust and sustainable policies for dealing with biological invasions (Hulme *et al.*, 2009; Roy *et al.*, 2018).

At the country level, protocols for national status reports (e.g. van Wilgen & Wilson, 2018) and development of indicators to monitor biological invasions are crucial for gauging changing levels of invasions caused by new incursions and the influence of management (Wilson et al., 2018). This includes innovative protocols for dealing with stakeholder conflicts to improve management outcomes. Advances in this regard include proactive stakeholder engagement in the coproduction of knowledge (Novoa et al., 2018) and in framing the dimensions of problems and potential solutions related to invasions (Woodford et al., 2016). In New Zealand, several invasive alien plant species of environmental concern are also important crop species of considerable value to the national economy, which leads to conflict among different stakeholders and limits the options available to manage invasions (Hulme, 2020). Sectors in which considerable efforts have been invested in forging sustainable solutions to complex conflicts involving invasive species that have commercial or other value include commercial forestry (van Wilgen & Richardson, 2014) and ornamental horticulture (e.g. Novoa et al., 2016).

Voluntary tools, such as codes of conduct, can also help to prevent the spread of alien species. Such codes of conduct outline social standards and set rules and responsibilities of appropriate practices for targeted groups of users, such as the horticulture and pet trades. Codes of conduct for IAS exist for botanical gardens (Heywood & Sharrock, 2013), zoological gardens (Scalera *et al.*, 2016), horticulture (Heywood & Brunel, 2009), forestry (Brundu & Richardson, 2016), the pet trade (Davenport & Collins, 2009), hunting (Monaco, Genovesi, & Middleton, 2016), and the biofuel industry (Crosti, 2009).

(2) National biosecurity programs

The term 'biosecurity' refers to measures to prevent and manage biological invasions (Hulme, 2011a). A close correspondence exists between the various stages of the invasion process and different biosecurity activities. For example 'border biosecurity' refers to measures, such as inspection, quarantines (bans on imports), and sanitary treatments (e.g. fumigation) of imported goods at or near the border. These activities contrast with surveillance and eradication, which aim to locate and eliminate nascent invaders before they establish populations. Nearly every country operates biosecurity measures to protect natural resources and citizens from invasion-related impacts. For some nations, biosecurity has become a national priority (e.g. Australia and New Zealand), and in these countries there have been long-term successes such as eradication of rats and cats on increasingly large islands or biological control of weeds across continental

areas (Peltzer et al., 2019; Hulme, 2020). International trade creates important pathways for the accidental movement of alien species, and the trend of increasingly globalized economies has contributed to increased invasion rates (e.g. Essl et al., 2011; Seebens et al., 2015). Following World War II, economists developed several international agreements that promoted free trade. While free trade can generate considerable global prosperity, it has also facilitated biological invasions. To address this problem, the World Trade Organization designated the International Plant Protection Convention (IPPC, https://www.ippc.int) of the UN Food and Agriculture Organization as the international standard-setting body for border biosecurity. Because import quarantines can be cited as unfair barriers to free trade, the IPPC provides rules by which national plant protection organizations can implement biosecurity practices. The IPPC also sets standards that are harmonized among countries to limit the spread of invasive alien species while promoting free trade. Under IPPC guidelines, each country is able to select a level of predetermined risk when implementing biosecurity practices, but this selection must be justified based on the best available science and uniformly applied (IPPC, https:// www.ippc.int).

(3) Technological advances in management: from classical control to gene editing

Established populations of IAS have long been managed to low densities or even eradicated, primarily by three methods - mechanical or physical control, chemical control, and biological control. Each method has recorded substantial successes as well as failures, but incremental technological advances have improved all three methods and lessened non-target impacts (Simberloff, 2014; Simberloff et al., 2018; Veitch et al., 2019). Significant advances have occasionally allowed successful management or eradication of a much greater range of invasions (e.g. Campbell et al., 2005; Leary et al., 2013). Although the majority of management projects for established invaders employ one or more of the above methods, other technologies have been applied in more limited domains and are being developed for a greater range of applications. For instance, invasive insects, especially lepidopterans, have long been managed with pheromones, especially through attract-and-kill or mating disruption (Cardé & Minks, 1995). Two pheromones have now been isolated for the sea lamprey (Petromyzon marinus) with an eye towards control in the Laurentian Great Lakes (Johnson et al., 2013; Li et al., 2018). Similarly, the male-sterilization technique has been widely used to manage or eradicate invasive insect populations (Dyck, Hendrichs, & Robinson, 2005) and is now being used against the sea lamprey (Bravener & Twohey, 2016).

Each invasion has a unique context that determines appropriate management or eradication targets, but projects, methods, and success rates have recently been summarized for several groups, including terrestrial vertebrates on islands (DIISE Partners, 2014), insects and plant pathogens (Kean *et al.*, 2017), crayfish (Stebbing, Longshaw, & Scott, 2014), and freshwater fishes (Rytwinski *et al.*, 2019). This has allowed overviews and syntheses of conditions likely to result in success by particular means (e.g. Tobin *et al.*, 2014). Similar reviews of many projects for particular sorts of invaders, although not comprehensive, have permitted rough generalizations along the same lines [e.g. Hussner *et al.*, 2017 for aquatic plants].

Several new management and eradication technologies based on molecular genetics have engendered great interest and intensive research in the past decade. Gene-silencing, usually through introducing double-stranded RNA (dsRNA) into cells to destabilize messenger RNA, has been studied especially for applications to human health and agriculture, but with much research also aimed at getting targeted invasive species to eat substances including dsRNA (e.g. San Miguel & Scott, 2016). Another approach is to engineer transgenic crop plants to produce dsRNAs that target a specific insect pest (Zotti et al., 2018). Monsanto has received U.S. government approval for release of an engineered maize that includes a transgene that silences genes in the western corn rootworm (Diabrotica virgifera subsp. virgifera) when the insect attacks the plant (Bachman et al., 2013; Zhang, 2017). In 2016, DuPont filed a patent application for a similar product to be used against stinkbugs, including the invasive brown marmorated stinkbug (Halyomorpha halys) (McGonigle, Presnail, & Mutti, 2016). Remarkably, Leonard et al. (2020) have attacked the invasive varroa mite, a parasite of honeybees, by engineering the genome of a gut bacterium (Snodgrassella alva) of the bee to express dsRNA sequences of varroa mite genes, thus entraining the mite's RNAi (ribonucleid acid interference) mechanism, killing the mite. Gene-silencing for control of invasive populations is also under study for plants (Martinez et al., 2020) and crustaceans (Sagi, Manor, & Ventura, 2013).

Interest in transgenes to manage or eradicate invasive populations was triggered by the Oxitec "FriendlyTM"Aedes *aegypti* mosquito, in which a transgene renders females flightless and thus inviable in nature when reared without tetracycline, which inactivates the gene (Fu et al., 2007). This is a version of the sterile male technique. Masses of mosquitoes are reared in a tetracycline environment, females are discarded, and males are released to mate with wild-type females, all of whose offspring in principle should die, although recent evidence shows that a few survive (Evans et al., 2019). Oxitec is developing similar transgenic strains of several other pest Diptera and Lepidoptera (www.oxitec. com/en/our-technology, accessed 30 Jan 2020). Other invasive animals targeted by current projects entailing use of transgenes include the Channel catfish (Ictalurus punctatus), common carp (Cyprinus carpio), and Pacific oyster (Crassostrea gigas) (Harvey-Samuel, Ant, & Alphey, 2017).

Recognition that CRISPR-Cas9 (clustered regularly interspaced short palindromic repeats) gene-editing technology, usually together with transgenes, could aid in management or eradication of invasive alien species (Esvelt *et al.*, 2014) plus improvements in the method (e.g. Hu *et al.*, 2018) have led to both enthusiasm (e.g. Harvey-Samuel, Ant, & Alphey, 2017; Moro *et al.*, 2018) and concern about potential unintended consequences (Esvelt & Gemmell, 2017). The U.S. National Research Council (National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine, 2016) and a United Nations treaty (Callaway, 2018) acknowledged potential unintended consequences but recommended proceeding with caution, including field-testing, and two well-resourced projects employing gene-editing to manage invasive populations are underway: Target Malaria for *Anopheles* mosquitoes (https://targetmalaria.org) and GBIRd for invasive rodents (www. geneticbiocontrol.org).

(4) Surveillance and monitoring: the key role of citizen science

The importance of early-warning and rapid-response initiatives, and concurrently the need for surveillance to inform such approaches, is widely recognized. Most countries do not implement integrated national invasive alien species surveillance programs. Also, many IAS that can affect biodiversity and ecosystems adversely do not fulfil the criteria for inclusion under government-funded schemes. Engaging volunteers in surveillance and monitoring is a low-cost, large-scale, and long-term option (Roy et al., 2015; Pocock et al., 2018; Groom et al., 2019). There are many benefits of engaging the public in recording IAS; the collected data are valuable, and the process of raising awareness has important consequences for increasing acceptance of biosecurity. Citizen scientists with smartphones and appropriate apps such as iNaturalist and IveGot1 plus a program to record and evaluate images, such as EDDMaps (Bargeron et al., 2011), can greatly increase early detection ability and also aid in recording the spread and location of invasive alien species. The emergence of new tools and technologies to detect new invasions, including image recognition, use of machine learning, and remote sensing, will be influential in advancing citizen science for surveillance and monitoring of IAS (August et al., 2015; Terry, Roy, & August, 2020). Progress has also been made on developing more cost-effective strategies for deploying surveillance networks, targeting surveillance in high-risk areas to increase efficiency.

V. INVASIONS IN THE FUTURE: WHAT'S NEXT?

Despite intensive research directed at modelling potential changes in the distribution of terrestrial, freshwater, and marine species owing to climate and land-use change, there is still much uncertainty in predictions of which species will colonize new regions and habitats and what their impacts will be (Elith, 2017; Capinha *et al.*, 2018; Rocchini *et al.*, 2019). Models of how levels of invasions (and associated impacts) will change in the next decades under different scenarios of socio-economic development and societal responses are still scarce (Chytrý *et al.*, 2012) or are under development (Essl *et al.*, 2019*b*). Growing human populations and a greatly expanded global network of commerce, combined with

environmental changes and their uncertainties, result in often surprising appearances and subsequent establishment of species all around the world. Many well-known plant, insect, and marine invaders feature on 'high risk' lists of both professional workers and volunteer watch-groups. However, in the absence of concerted political and social action, expanding global trade will continue to transport many species with no history of invasion (Seebens *et al.*, 2018), some of which are likely to feature on future 'worst invaders' lists. Potentially thousands of species, including many with no known history of invasiveness, could become as damaging as current poster-child invaders such as the zebra mussel *Dreissena polymorpha*, chestnut blight *Cryphonectria parasitica*, Dutch elm disease fungus *Ophiostoma novo-ulmi*, kudzu, Nile perch, harlequin ladybird, muskrat, varroa mite, and the amphibian chytrid fungus.

It is also very likely that some future invasions will differ in many respects from past and current invasions; this is because of the emergence of new pathways and increasingly complex interactions among global change drivers that may increase the susceptibility of ecosystems to invasion-driven degradation. Among the most pressing challenges for invasion science are the need to identify aspects of invasion dynamics that can realistically be extrapolated into the future and to deal with associated uncertainty levels (e.g. Latombe et al., 2019; Essl et al., 2019b). Importantly, many potential future invaders have already been introduced (e.g. are grown in our gardens; Haeuser et al., 2018) but have not yet become invasive or manifested an impact. Therefore, in practical terms, 'invasion debt' (the time-delayed spread of species already introduced to a region and the inevitable escalation of impacts) is a crucial dimension of IAS management and must be explicitly incorporated in strategic plans (Essl et al., 2011; Rouget et al., 2016).

Although it is recognized that climate change influences biological invasions (Walther et al., 2009), empirical data that unambiguously capture expansions and shifts in alien species distributions owing to climate change are rare despite many bioclimatic models predicting that extreme events with the potential to trigger or alter the trajectory of invasions will become more frequent (Bradley, Oppenheimer, & Wilcove, 2010; Bradley et al., 2012). A recent example is the spread of alien plants species into higher altitudes approximately twice as rapidly as natives in the European Alps as a result of warming temperatures over the last two decades (Dainese et al., 2017). Climate change may affect rates of species introductions, establishment (Walther et al., 2007; Redding et al., 2019), spread, and impact (Cheng, Komoroske, & Grosholz, 2017), but the relative effects on these invasion stages remain unclear. For the UK at least, it appears that climate change will have greatest impact on establishment rates of alien species and on species currently limited by temperature (Hulme, 2017).

VI. RESEARCH PRIORITIES

This paper has reviewed what we know about biological invasions – the many factors that have contributed to the

rapid escalation in the extent of invasions and the magnitude of impacts in recent decades. We have also reviewed exciting advances in approaches for dealing with invasions. Despite some notable successes in preventing some invasions, reducing the impacts of others, and putting various measures in place to tackle invasions and their impacts more systematically, the magnitude of the challenges is extremely daunting. A major problem is that changes in the extent and impacts of invasions are occurring not just incrementally (through the increase in numbers of invaders and invaded area, and steady accumulation of impacts), but also through non-linearities and synergisms with other components of global change. Unlike some other components of global change, biological invasions can be effectively managed and mitigated. We suggest the following priorities to ensure progress in dealing effectively with the many dimensions of biological invasions.

(1) Invasions require both local- and global-scale solutions

National capacities to respond to invasions differ among countries (Early et al., 2016); the recently suggested modular approach to building global knowledge with all countries being able to participate and strategically build their contributions has great potential (Latombe et al., 2017). National action is also crucial, as apart from Europe where there is coordinated regulation at the EU scale, in most cases biosecurity must be enforced through national legislation. Existing regional (e.g. African Union, European Union, NAFTA) and strategic global networks (e.g. BRICS; Measey et al., 2019) must be exploited to promote collaborations and to fast-track crucial interventions to slow rates of new introductions and to deal more effectively with established invaders. Global efforts are needed to help less-developed countries where research on invasive alien species is limited and that currently lack the capacity to tackle such complex problems. Many opportunities exist to share insights on successful ways of managing invasive species that replicate invasion success and impacts in multiple regions (e.g. Wilson et al., 2011 for Australian acacias; genus Acacia). The forthcoming assessment of IAS as part of IPBES will play a crucial role in this endeavour. This first comprehensive assessment will address past and future trends in the spread, pathways, evolutionary change, and distribution of invasive alien species, and gaps in existing knowledge; direct and indirect drivers responsible for their introduction, spread, abundance, and dynamics; global environmental, economic, and social impacts of invasive alien species; the effectiveness of past and current programmes and tools for the global, national, and local prevention and management and future options for the prevention and management of invasive alien species; and analysis of possible support tools for decision makers. A number of overarching themes are also being developed to guide the assessment including interactions of IAS with climate change. The IPBES assessment will bring together more than 70 experts spanning diverse disciplines. The completed assessment is expected to be presented in 2023 to the 10th session of the IPBES Plenary composed of representatives from 132 member states.

(2) Management interventions need to be objectively prioritized

Invasions are pervasive - thousands of alien species have arrived, and more are arriving almost everywhere - and require much bolder actions. We can manage the most significant IAS and protect the most vulnerable ecosystems, but this requires a significant leap of commitment. It is important to prioritize, for example by focusing on vulnerable areas that are most at risk, including in developing countries, some of which are megadiversity hotspots (Seebens et al., 2015) or islands (Dawson et al., 2017). This paves the way for improved efficiency by focusing management on (i) high-risk pathways, activities, and/or societal sectors that use alien species (e.g. commercial forestry, ornamental horticulture, biofuels, pet trade, shipping) to prevent introduction, (ii) newly arrived species for removal to prevent further spread, and (iii) vulnerable habitats/native species to monitor and impede invasions from impacting them. Managing invasions is difficult and often expensive, but emerging evidence shows that even expensive interventions, especially related to prevention, generally result in net benefits (Zavaleta, 2000; Keller, Lodge, & Finnoff, 2007).

(3) Protected areas need special attention

Protected areas are an important part of global efforts to conserve biodiversity. Nevertheless, integrated efforts involving science, management, and policy for dealing with IAS in protected areas are insufficient. The extent and overall impact of invasive species in protected areas is increasing worldwide, especially for invasive plants, despite some notable successes in dealing with such invasions (Shackleton et al., 2020). New initiatives are needed to pave the way for monitoring trends, revising legislation and policies, and improving management interventions to reduce the impacts of invasive alien species in protected areas (Genovesi & Monaco, 2013; Foxcroft et al., 2017). However, management actions are also needed in human-dominated systems, including urban ecosystems where invasions are becoming increasingly problematic for human well-being and from which invasions into protected areas are often launched.

(4) More effective protocols are needed for engaging with the public and societal actors

Invasive alien species are affecting many aspects of human society, and their management requires the involvement of all societal stakeholders. Strengthening multidisciplinary approaches to invasion science (Simberloff *et al.*, 2013; Vaz *et al.*, 2017) is becoming a *conditio sine qua non* in the quest for comprehensive solutions to deal with biological invasions. Overcoming knowing–doing gaps (Hulme, 2014*a*; Foxcroft *et al.*, 2020), involving citizen science (Groom *et al.*, 2019),

and raising awareness are making important contributions towards developing effective, operational, and clear mechanisms for much greater public and, hence, political engagement with the many complex and interacting dimensions of biological invasions. An under-developed area is engaging indigenous perspectives on the threat of alien species to culture and livelihoods and how to manage them. More efforts are needed to understand how IAS are directly affecting human well-being (i.e. Good Quality of Life in the IPBES framework) and how management can reduce such impacts.

(5) Forecasting and scenario development must give more attention to synergies of invasions with climate change and other environmental changes

Despite numerous correlative bioclimatic models predicting that many alien species will likely become more widespread as a result of climate change, there is a dearth of empirical data that clearly link shifts in alien species distributions with changes in temperature or precipitation. Analysis of longterm and large-scale spatial data on alien species distributions is urgently needed to disentangle how they correlate with climate variables and other aspects of global change, such as intensified land use and transformation, pollution, and propagule pressure (Bellard et al., 2013; González-Moreno et al., 2014; Mazor et al., 2018). Emerging research shows that we must address synergies in interacting drivers of invasions, synergies in impacts of multiple invaders, and species interactions resulting in invasional meltdowns and other feedbacks, as well as regime shifts (Gaertner et al., 2014), to improve our ability to predict new invasions and their impacts.

VII. CONCLUSIONS

(1) Biological invasions are a major driver of ecosystem degradation. The number of invasive alien species is increasing rapidly with no evidence that either the rate of species introduction or the emergence of new invasive species is slowing down.

(2) Islands and coastal mainland areas are hotspots of invasions, but ecosystems in all biomes throughout the world are increasingly affected. Although boundaries of protected areas provide some resistance to invasions, even the most isolated and well-managed reserves are experiencing pressure from invasive alien species.

(3) The global escalation in biological invasions is attributed to the increase in the number of pathways of introduction and spread of species, and particularly the volume of traffic (and therefore species) along these pathways. Emerging pathways are creating new categories of invasions, such as plastics providing rafts for transport of organisms across oceans.

(4) Interactions with other drivers of global change are exacerbating current biological invasions and facilitating

new ones, thereby greatly escalating the extent and impacts of invaders. Although biological invasions are sometimes symptoms (or 'passengers') of other human-mediated change, they are themselves often key drivers of change.

(5) Invasions have complex and often immense long-term direct and indirect impacts, many of which manifest decades or more after invasions commence, when the invaders are established and extend across large geographic ranges. Invasive alien species break down biogeographic realms, affect native species richness and abundance, increase the risk of native species extinction, affect the genetic composition of native populations, change native animal behaviour, alter phylogenetic diversity across communities, and modify trophic networks. Many invasions alter ecosystem functioning and the delivery of ecosystem services, thereby adversely impacting human livelihoods. All these types of impacts are accelerating and predicted to increase in the future, often following non-linear trajectories. Despite advances in understanding impacts of biological invasions, little is known about the impacts of alien pathogens (including viruses, bacteria, fungi, and protists) and associated emerging infectious diseases on biodiversity and ecosystems.

(6) Strategies to reduce future invasions are in place in many countries but are often implemented ineffectively. Unlike some other facets of global environmental change, with sufficient foresight and resources many biological invasions can be managed and mitigated. There is increasing evidence of successful long-term and large-scale management of established invaders, such as the eradication of mammals on increasingly large islands and biological control of weeds across continental areas. In many countries, however, invasions receive inadequate attention. Management approaches must be objectively prioritized by accounting for feasibility and considering invasion debt (the delayed spread of species after introduction to a region and the inevitable escalation of impacts over time). Engaging people from diverse stakeholder groups is essential to enhance understanding of biological invasions and inform decision-making including effective implementation of biosecurity.

(7) Multidisciplinary collaborations and integrated approaches through international cooperation are critical to reduce the impacts of invasive alien species, including alien pathogens, on biodiversity, ecosystem services, and human livelihoods. Countries must strengthen their biosecurity regulations to implement and enforce effective management strategies that address invasions in tandem with other facets of global change.

VIII. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

P.P., J.P. and L.C.F. were supported by EXPRO grant no. 19-28807X (Czech Science Foundation) and long-term research development project RVO 67985939 (Czech Academy of Sciences). S.B. was supported through the 2017-2018 Belmont Forum and joint call for research proposals, under the BiodivScen ERA-Net COFUND programme, and by the Swiss National Science Foundation (grant numbers 31BD30 184114, and 31003A 179491). F.E. was supported by a grant from the Austrian Science Foundation FWF (grant I 3757-B29). L.C.F. acknowledges South African National Parks, the DSI-NRF Centre of Excellence for Invasion Biology, Stellenbosch University, and the National Research of South Africa (Grant Numbers IFR2010041400019 and IFR160215158271). P.E.H. was supported through grant C09X1611 "Winning against Wildings" from the New Zealand Ministry of Business, Innovation and Employment. J.M.J. was supported by the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft (DFG; grant JE 288/9-2) and the Bel-Forum-BiodivERsA projects InvasiBES and AlienScenarios with the national funder German Federal Ministry of Education and Research (BMBF; grants 01LC1803A and 01LC1807B). A.M.L. was supported by CZ.02.1.01/0.0/0.0/16 019/0000803 No. financed by OP RDE and by the USDA Forest Service. A. P. was funded by CONICYT AFB-170008 and Fondecyt

1180205. D.M.R. acknowledges support from the DSI-NRF Centre of Excellence for Invasion Biology and the Oppenheimer Memorial Trust (grant 18576/03). H.E.R. was supported by the Natural Environment Research Council award number NE/R016429/1 as part of the UK-SCAPE programme Delivering National Capability. M.v. K. was supported by the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft (DFG: grant 264740629). M.V. was supported by the Belmont Forum-BiodivERsA project InvasiBES (PCI2018-092939) funded by the Spanish Ministerio de Ciencia, Innovación y Universidades. H.S. was supported by Belmont Forum-BiodivERsA with the national funder German Federal Ministry of Education and Research (BMBF; grant 01LC1807A). D.S. was supported by the Nancy Gore Hunger Professorship in Environmental Studies at the University of Tennessee.

IX. REFERENCES

Foundation

mont

EVA4.0.

- Ahyong, S., Costello, M. J., Galil, B. S., Gollasch, S., Hutchings, P., KATSANEVAKIS, S., LEJEUSNE, C., MARCHINI, A., OCCHIPINTI, A., PAGAD, S., POORE, G. C. B., RIUS, M., ROBINSON, T. B., STERRER, W., TURON, X., et al. (2019). World Register of Introduced Marine Species (WRiMS). Electronic file available at http:// www.marinespecies.org/introduced. Accessed 30.09.2019
- Alexander, J. M., Lembrechts, J. J., Cavieres, L. A., Daehler, C. C., Haider, S., KUEFFER, C., LIU, G., MCDOUGALL, K., MILBAU, A., PAUCHARD, A., REW, L. J. & SEIPEL, T. (2016). Plant invasions into mountains and alpine ecosystems: current status and future challenges. Alpine Botany 126, 89-103.
- ANTON, A., GERALDI, N. R., LOVELOCK, C. E., APOSTOLAKI, E. T., BENNETT, S., Cebrian, J., Krause-Jensen, D., Marbà, N., Martinetto, P., Pandolfi, J. M., SANTANA-GARCON, J. & DUARTE, C. M. (2019). Global ecological impacts of marine exotic species. Nature Ecology and Evolution 3, 787-800.
- AUGUST, T., HARVEY, M., LIGHTFOOT, P., KILBEY, D., PAPADOPOULOS, T. & JEPSON, P. (2015). Emerging technologies for biological recording. Biological Journal of the Linnean Society 115, 731-749.
- AUKEMA, J. E., MCCULLOUGH, D. G., VON HOLLE, B., LIEBHOLD, A. M., BRITTON, K. & FRANKEL, S. J. (2010). Historical accumulation of nonindigenous forest pests in the continental United States. BioScience 60, 886-897.
- AVILA, C., ANGULO-PRECKLER, C., MARTIN-MARTIN, R. P., FIGUEROLA, B., GRIFFITHS, H. J. & WALLER, C. L. (2020). Invasive marine species discovered on non-native kelp rafts in the warmest Antarctic Island. Scientific Reports 10, 1639.

- BACHER, S., BLACKBURN, T. M., ESSL, F., JESCHKE, J. M., GENOVESI, P., HEIKKILÄ, J., JONES, G., KELLER, R., KENIS, M., KUEFFER, C., MARTINOU, A. F., NENTWIG, W., PERGL, J., PYSEK, P., RABITSCH, W., et al. (2018). Socio-economic impact classification of alien taxa (SEICAT). *Methods in Ecology and Evolution* 9, 159–168.
- BACHMAN, P. M., BOLOGNESI, R., MOAR, W. J., MUELLER, G. M., PARADISE, M. S., RAMASESHADRI, P., TAN, J., UFFMAN, J. P., WARREN, J., WIGGINS, B. E. & LEVINE, S. L. (2013). Characterization of the spectrum of insecticidal activity of a double-stranded RNA with targeted activity against western corn rootworm (*Diabrotica virgifera virgifera* LeConte). *Transgenic Research* 22, 1207–1222.
- BACON, S. J., BACHER, S. & AEBI, A. (2012). Gaps in border controls are related to quarantine alien insect invasions in Europe. *PLoS One* 7, e47689.
- BARGERON, C. T., SWEARINGEN, J., DOUCE, G. K., MOORHEAD, D. J. & RAWLINS, K. A. (2011). EDDMAPS: a collaborative, easy-to-use, early detection and distribution mapping system. In *Proceedings of the 21st U.S. Department of Agriculture Interagency Research Forum on Invasive Species* (eds K. A. MCMANUS and K. W. GOTTSCHAIK). Gen. Tech. Rep. NRS-P-75. U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Northern Research Station, Newton Square.
- BARON, J. S., GUNDERSON, L., ALLEN, C. D., FLEISHMAN, E., MCKENZIE, D., MEYERSON, L. A., OROPEZA, J. & STEPHENSON, N. (2009). Options for national parks and reserves for adapting to climate change. *Environmental Management* 44, 1033–1042.
- BASHFORD, R. (2001). The spread and impact of the introduced vespine wasps Vespula germanica (F.) and Vespula vulgaris (L.) (Hymenoptera: Vespidae: Vespinae) in Tasmania. Australian Entomologist 28, 1–12.
- BELLARD, C., CASSEY, P. & BLACKBURN, T. M. (2016). Alien species as a driver of recent extinctions. *Biology Letters* 12, 20150623.
- BELLARD, C., THUILLER, W., LEROY, B., GENOVESI, P., BAKKENES, M. & COURCHAMP, F. (2013). Will climate change promote future invasions? *Global Change Biology* **19**, 3740– 3748.
- BENTUR, Y., ALTUNIN, S., LEVDOV, I., GOLANI, D., SPANIER, E., EDELIST, D. & LURIE, Y. (2018). The clinical effects of the venomous Lessepsian migrant fish *Plotosus lineatus* (Thunberg, 1787) in the southeastern Mediterranean Sea. *Clinical Toxicology* 56, 327–331.
- BLACKBURN, T. M., BELLARD, C. & RICCIARDI, A. (2019). Alien versus native species as driver of recent extinction. Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment 17, 203–207.
- BLACKBURN, T. M., CASSEY, P. & LOCKWOOD, J. L. (2008). The island biogeography of exotic bird species. *Global Ecology and Biogeography* 17, 246–251.
- BLACKBURN, T. M., ESSL, F., EVANS, T., HULME, P. E., JESCHKE, J. M., KÜHN, I., KUMSCHICK, S., MARKOVÁ, Z., MRUGAŁA, A., NENTWIG, W., PERGL, J., PYŠEK, P., RABITSCH, W., RICCIARDI, A., RICHARDSON, D. M., SENDEK, A., VILÅ, M., WILSON, J. R. U., WINTER, M., GENOVESI, P. & BACHER, S. (2014). A unified classification of alien species based on the magnitude of their environmental impacts. *PLoS Biology* 12, e1001850.
- BLACKBURN, T. M., LOCKWOOD, J. L. & CASSEY, P. (2009). Avian Invasions: The Ecology and Evolution of Exotic Birds. Oxford University Press, Oxford.
- BLACKBURN, T. M., PYŠEK, P., BACHER, S., CARLTON, J. T., DUNCAN, R. P., JAROŠÍK, V., WILSON, J. R. U. & RICHARDSON, D. M. (2011). A proposed unified framework for biological invasions. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution* 26, 333–339.
- BOWEN, J. L., KEARNS, P. J., BYRYES, J. E. K., WIGGINTON, S., ALLEN, W. J., GREENWOOD, M., TRAN, K., YU, J., CRONIN, J. T. & MEYERSON, L. A. (2017). Lineage overwhelms environmental conditions in determining rhizosphere bacterial community structure in a cosmopolitan invasive plant. *Nature Communications* 8, 433.
- BRADFORD, M. A., SCHUMACHER, H. B., CATOVSKY, S., EGGERS, T., NEWINGTON, J. E. & TORDOFF, G. M. (2007). Impacts of invasive plant species on riparian plant assemblages: interactions with elevated atmospheric carbon dioxide and nitrogen deposition. *Oecologia* 152, 791–803.
- BRADLEY, B. A., BLUMENTHAL, D. M., EARLY, R., GROSHOLZ, E. D., LAWLER, J. J., MILLER, L. P., SORTE, C. J. B., D'ANTONIO, C. M., DIEZ, J. M., DUKES, J. S., IBAÑEZ, I. & OLDEN, J. D. (2012). Global change, global trade, and the next wave of plant invasions. *Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment* 10, 20–28.
- BRADLEY, B. A., LAGINHAS, B. B., WHITLOCK, R., ALLEN, J. M., BATES, A. E., BERNATCHES, G., DIEZ, J. M., EARLY, R., LENOIR, J., VILÅ, M. & SORTE, C. J. B. (2019). Disentangling the abundance-impact relationship for invasive species. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 116, 1919–1924.
- BRADLEY, B. A., OPPENHEIMER, M. & WILCOVE, D. S. (2010). Climate change increases risk of plant invasion in the eastern United States. *Biological Invasions* 12, 1855–1872.
- BRADY, O. J. & HAY, S. I. (2020). The global expansion of dengue: how Aedes aegypti mosquitoes enabled the first pandemic arbovirus. Annual Review of Entomology 65, 191–208.
- BRAGA, R. R., GÓMEZ-APARICIO, L., HEGER, T., VITULE, J. R. S. & JESCHKE, J. M. (2018). Structuring evidence for invasional meltdown: broad support but with biases and gaps. *Biological Invasions* 20, 923–936.
- BRAVENER, G. & TWOHEY, M. (2016). Evaluation of a sterile-male release technique: a case study of invasive sea lamprey control in a tributary of the Laurentian Great Lakes. North American Journal of Fisheries Management 36, 1125–1138.

- BRONDIZIO, E. S., SETTELE, J., DÍAZ, S. & NGO, H. T. (eds) (2019). Global Assessment Report on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services of the Intergovernmental Science-Policy Platform on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services. IPBES Secretariat, Bonn.
- BROOKS, M. L., D'ANTONIO, C. M., RICHARDSON, D. M., GRACE, J. B., KEELEY, J. E., DITOMASO, J. M., HOBBS, R. J., PELLANT, M. & PYKE, D. (2004). Effects of invasive alien plants on fire regimes. *BioScience* 54, 677–688.
- BRUNDU, G. & RICHARDSON, D. M. (2016). Planted forests and invasive alien trees in Europe: a code for managing existing and future plantings to mitigate the risk of negative impacts from invasions. *NeoBiota* 30, 5–47.
- BUCKLEY, Y. M. & CATFORD, J. (2016). Does the biogeographic origin of species matter? Ecological effects of native and non-native species and the use of origin to guide management. *Journal of Ecology* **104**, 4–17.
- BUTCHART, S. H. M., WALPOLE, M., COLLEN, B., VAN STRIEN, A., SCHARLEMANN, J. P. W., ALMOND, R. E. A., BAILLIE, J. E. M., BOMHARD, B., BROWN, C., BRUNO, J., CARPENTER, K. E., CARR, G. M., CHANSON, J., CHENERY, A. M., CSIRKE, J., DAVIDSON, N. C., DENTENER, F., FOSTER, M., GALLI, A., GALLOWAY, J. N., GENOVESI, P., GREGORY, R. D., HOCKINGS, M., KAPOS, V., LAMARQUE, J. F., LEVERINGTON, F., LOH, J., MCGEOCH, M. A., MCRAE, L., MINASVAN, A., MORCILLO, M. H., OLDFIELD, T. E. E., PAULY, D., QUADER, S., REVENGA, C., SAUER, J. R., SKOLNIK, B., SPEAR, D., STANWELL-SMITH, D., STUART, S. N., SYMES, A., TIERNEY, M., TYRRELL, T. D., VIE, J. C. & WATSON, R. (2010). Global biodiversity: indicators of recent declines. *Science* 328, 1164–1168.
- CALLAWAY, E. (2018). 'Gene drive' ban back on table worrying scientists. *Nature*, 563, 454–455.
- CAMERON, E. K., VILÅ, M. & CABEZA, M. (2016). Global meta-analysis of the impacts of terrestrial invertebrate invaders on species, communities and ecosystems. *Global Ecology and Biogeography* 25, 596–606.
- CAMPBELL, K. J., BAXTER, G. S., MURRAY, P. J., COBLENTZ, B. E., DONLAN, C. E. & CARRION, G. V. (2005). Increasing the efficacy of Judas goats by sterilization and pregnancy termination. *Wildlife Research* 32, 737–743.
- CAPINHA, C., ESSL, F., SEEBENS, H., MOSER, D. & PEREIRA, H. M. (2015). The dispersal of alien species redefines biogeography in the Anthropocene. *Science* **348**, 1248–1251.
- CAPINHA, C., ESSL, F., SEEBENS, H., PEREIRA, H. M. & KÜHN, I. (2018). Models of alien species richness show moderate predictive accuracy and poor transferability. *NeoBiota* 38, 77–96.
- CAPINHA, C., SEEBENS, H., CASSEY, P., GARCÍA-DÍAZ, P., LENZNER, B., MANG, T., MOSER, D., PYŠEK, P., RÖDDER, D., SCALERA, R., WINTER, M. & ESSL, F. (2017). Diversity, biogcography and global flows of alien amphibians and reptiles. *Diversity* and Distributions 23, 1313–1322.
- CARDÉ, R. T. & MINKS, A. K. (1995). Control of moth pests by mating disruption: successes and constraints. Annual Review of Entomology 40, 559–585.
- CARDENAS, L., LECLERC, J.-C., BRUNNING, P., GARRIDO, I., DETREE, C., FIGUEROA, A., ASTORGA, M., NAVARRO, J. M., JOHNSON, L. E., CARLTON, J. T. & PARDO, L. (2020). First mussel settlement observed in Antarctica reveals the potential for future invasions. *Scientific Reports* 10, 5552.
- CARDOSO, P., BARTON, P. S., BIRKHOFER, K., CHICHORRO, F., DEACON, C., FARTMANN, T., FUKUSHIMA, C. S., GAIGHERD, R., HABEL, J. C., HALLMANN, C. A., HILL, M. J., HOCHKIRCH, A., KWAK, M. L., MAMMOLA, S., et al. (2020). Scientists' warning to humanity on insect extinctions. *Biological Conservation* 242, 108426.
- CARLTON, J. T. (2011). The inviolate sea? Charles Elton and biological invasions in the world's oceans. In *Fifty Years of Invasion Ecology. The Legacy of Charles Elton* (ed. D. M. RICHARDSON), pp. 25–33. Wiley-Blackwell, Oxford.
- CARLTON, J. T., CHAPMAN, J. W., GELLER, J. B., MILLER, J. A., CARLTON, D. A., MCCULLER, M. I., TRENEMAN, N. C., STEVES, B. P. & RUIZ, G. M. (2017). Tsunami-driven rafting: transoceanic species dispersal and implications for marine biogeography. *Science* 357, 1402–1405.
- CARLTON, J. T. & ELDREDGE, L. G. (2015). Update and revision of the marine bioinvasions of Hawaii: the introduced and cryptogenic marine and estuarine animals and plants of the Hawaiian archipelago. In Lucius G. Eldredge III Memorial Volume: Tribute to a Polymath (eds N. L. Evenhuis, J. T. Carlton and L. G. Eldredge III), *Bishop Museum Bulletin of Zoology* 9: 25–47
- CARLTON, J. T. & GELLER, J. G. (1993). Ecological roulette: the global transport of nonindigenous marine organisms. *Science* 261, 78–82.
- CASTRO-DÍEZ, P., VAZ, A. S., SILVA, J. S., VAN LOO, M., ALONSO, ., APONTE, C., BAYÓN, ., BELLINGHAM, P. J., CHIUFFO, M. C., DIMANNO, N., JULIAN, K., KANDERT, S., LA PORTA, N., MARCHANTE, H., MAULE, H. G., et al. (2019). Global effects of nonnative tree species on multiple ecosystem services. *Biological Reviews* 94, 1477–1501.
- CBD (2002). Guiding Principles for the Prevention, Introduction and Mitigation of Impacts of Alien Species that Threaten Ecosystems, Habitats or Species. Annex to COP 6 decision VI/23 of the Convention on Biological Diversity. Malmö, Sweden: Secretariat of the Convention on Biological Diversity, Montréal.
- CBD (2014). Global Biodiversity Outlook 4. Secretariat of the Convention on Biological Diversity, Montréal.
- Chan, F. T., Stanislawczyk, K., Sneekes, A. C., Dvoretsky, A., Gollasch, S., Minchin, D., David, M., Jelmert, A., Albretsen, J. & Bailey, S. A. (2018).

Climate change opens new frontiers for marine species in the Arctic: current trends and future invasion risks. *Global Change Biology* **25**, 25–38.

- CHENG, B. S., KOMOROSKE, L. M. & GROSHOLZ, E. D. (2017). Trophic sensitivity of invasive predator and native prey interactions: integrating environmental context and climate change. *Functional Ecology* **31**, 642–652.
- CHYTRÝ, M., MASKELL, L. C., PINO, J., PYŠEK, P., VILÅ, M., FONT, X. & SMART, S. M. (2008). Habitat invasions by alien plants: a quantitative comparison among Mediterranean, subcontinental and oceanic regions of Europe. *Journal of Applied Ecology* 45, 448–458.
- CHYTRÝ, M., PYŠEK, P., WILD, J., PINO, J., MASKELL, L. C. & VILÅ, M. (2009). European map of alien plant invasions based on the quantitative assessment across habitats. *Diversity and Distributions* 15, 98–107.
- CHYTRÝ, M., WILD, J., PYŠEK, P., JAROŠÍK, V., DENDONCKER, N., REGINSTER, I., PINO, J., MASKELL, L., VILÀ, M., PERGL, J., KÜHN, I., SPANGENBERG, J. & SETTELE, J. (2012). Projecting trends in plant invasions in Europe under different scenarios of future land-use change. *Global Ecology and Biogeography* 21, 75–87.
- CONROY, M. J., RUNGE, M. C., NICHOLS, J. D., STODOLA, K. W. & COOPER, R. J. (2011). Conservation in the face of climate change: the roles of alternative models, monitoring, and adaptation in confronting and reducing uncertainty. *Biological Conservation* 144, 1204–1213.
- Соок, D. C. (2019). Quantifying the potential impact of the European wasp (Vespula germanica) on ecosystem services in Western Australia. NeoBiota 50, 55–74.
- COWAN, D. A., RYBICKI, E. P., TUFFIN, M. I., VALVERDE, A. & WINGFIELD, M. J. (2013). Biodiversity: so much more than legs and leaves. South African Journal of Science 109, 1–9.
- CROOKS, J. A. (2005). Lag times and exotic species: the ecology and management of biological invasions in slow motion. *ÉcoScience* 12, 316–329.
- CROOKS, J. A., CHANG, A. L. & RUIZ, G. M. (2011). Aquatic pollution increases the relative success of invasive species. *Biological Invasions* 13, 165–176.
- CROSTI, R. (2009). Invasiveness of Biofuel Crops and Potential Harm to Natural Habitats and Native Species. Convention on the Conservation of European Wildlife and Natural Habitats T-PVS/Inf (2009) 6, Strasbourg.
- CROUS, P. W., HAWKSWORTH, D. L. & WINGFIELD, M. J. (2015). Identifying and naming plant pathogenic fungi: past, present and future. *Annual Review of Phytopathology* 53, 247–267.
- DAINESE, M., AIKIO, S., HULME, P. E., BERTOLLI, A., PROSSER, F. & MARINI, L. (2017). Human disturbance and upward expansion of plants in a warming climate. *Nature Climate Change* 7, 577–580.
- DAISIE (2009). Handbook of Alien Species in Europe. Springer, Berlin.
- DAVENPORT, K. & COLLINS, J. (2009). Code of Conduct on Companion Animals and Invasive Alien Species (Including Ornamental Fish) in Europe. Council of Europe Publishing, Strasbourg.
- DAVIS, M. A., CHEW, M. K., HOBBS, R. J., LUGO, A. E., ÉWEL, J. J., VERMEIJ, G. J., BROWN, J. H., ROSENZWEIG, M. L., GARDENER, M. R., CARROLL, S. P., THOMPSON, K., PICKETT, S. T. A., STROMBERG, J. C., DEL TREDICI, P., SUDING, K. N., et al. (2011). Don't judge species on their origins. *Nature* **474**, 153–154.
- DAWSON, W., MOSER, D., VAN KLEUNEN, M., KREFT, H., PERGL, J., PYŠEK, P., WEIGELT, P., WINTER, M., LENZNER, B., BLACKBURN, T. M., DYER, E. E., CASSEY, P., SCRIVENS, S. L., ECONOMO, E. P., GUÉNARD, B., CAPINHA, C., SEEBENS, H., GARCÍA-DIAZ, P., NENTWIG, W., GARCÍA-BERTHOU, E., CASAL, C., MANDRAK, N. E., FULLER, P., MEYER, C. & ESSL, F. (2017). Global hotspots and correlates of alien species richness across taxonomic groups. *Nature Ecology and Evolution* 1, 0186.
- Dav, M. J. (2011). One health: the importance of companion animal vector-borne diseases. *Parasites & Vectors* 4, 49.
- DE POORTER, M. (2007). Invasive Alien Species and Protected Areas: a Scoping Report. Part 1. Scoping the Scale and Nature of Invasive Alien Species Threats to Protected Areas, Impediments to IAS Management and Means to Address those Impediments. Auckland: Global Invasive Species Program, Invasive Species Specialist Group, http://www.issg.org/gisp_ publications_reports.htm.
- DIDHAM, R. K., TYLIANAKIS, J. M., HUTCHISON, M. A., EWERS, R. M. & GEMMELL, N. J. (2005). Are invasive species the drivers of ecological change? *Trends in Ecology & Evolution* 20, 470–474.
- DORCAS, M., WILLSON, J. D., REED, R. N., SNOW, R. W., ROCHFORD, M. R., MILLER, M. A., MESHAKA, W. E. JR., ANDREADIS, P. T., MAZZOTTI, F. J., ROMAGOSA, C. M. & HART, K. M. (2012). Severe mammal declines coincide with proliferation of invasive Burmese pythons in Everglades National Park. *Proceedings* of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 109, 2418–2422.
- DOWNEY, P. O. & RICHARDSON, D. M. (2016). Alien plant invasions and native plant extinctions: a six-threshold framework. *AoB Plants* 8, plw047.
- DUFFY, G. A., COETZEE, B. W. T., LATOMBE, G., AKERMAN, A. H., MCGEOCH, M. A., CHOWN, S. L. & THUILLER, W. (2017). Barriers to globally invasive species are weakening across the Antarctic. *Diversity and Distributions* 23, 982–996.
- DYCK, V. A., HENDRICHS, J. & ROBINSON, A. S. (eds) (2005). Sterile Insect Technique: Principles and Practice in Area-Wide Integrated Pest Management. Springer, Dordrecht.
- DYER, E. E., CASSEY, P., REDDING, D. W., COLLEN, B., FRANKS, V., GASTON, K. J., JONES, K. E., KARK, S., ORME, C. D. L. & BLACKBURN, T. M. (2017). The global distribution and drivers of alien bird species richness. *PLoS Biology* 15, e2000942.

- DYER, E. E., REDDING, D. W. & BLACKBURN, T. M. (2017). The global avian invasions atlas, a database of alien bird distributions worldwide. *Scientific Data* 4, 170041.
- EARLY, R., BRADLEY, B. A., DUKES, J. S., LAWLER, J. J., OLDEN, J. D., BLUMENTHAL, D. M., GONZALEZ, P., GROSHOLZ, E. D., IBAÑEZ, I., MILLER, L. P., SORTE, C. J. B. & TATEM, A. J. (2016). Global threats from invasive alien species in the twenty-first century and national response capacities. *Nature Communications* 7, 12485.
- ELITH, J. (2017). Predicting distributions of invasive species. In *Invasive Species: Risk Assessment and Management* (cds A. P. ROBINSON, T. WALSHE, M. A. BURGMAN and M. NUNN), pp. 93–129. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- ESSL, F., BACHER, S., GENOVESI, P., HULME, P. E., JESCHKE, J. M., KATSANEVAKIS, S., KOWARIK, I., KÜHN, I., PYŠEK, P., RABITSCH, W., SCHINDLER, S., VAN KLEUNEN, M., VILÀ, M., WILSON, J. R. U. & RICHARDSON, D. M. (2018). Which taxa are alien? Criteria, applications, and uncertainties. *BioScience* 68, 496–509.
- ESSL, F., DAWSON, W., KREFT, H., PERGL, J., PYŠEK, P., VAN KLEUNEN, M., WEIGELT, P., MANG, T., DULLINGER, S., LENZNER, B., MOSER, D., MAUREL, N., SEEBENS, H., STEIN, A., WEBER, E., CHATELAIN, C., INDERJIT, B., GENOVESI, P., KARTESZ, J., MOROZOVA, O., NISHINO, M., NOWAK, P. M., PAGAD, S., SHU, W. S. & WINTER, M. (2019a). Drivers of the relative richness of naturalized and invasive plant species on the earth. *AoB Plants* 11, plz051.
- ESSL, F., DULLINGER, S., MOSER, D., STEINBAUER, K. & MANG, T. (2015). Macroecology of global bryophyte invasions at different invasion stages. *Ecography* 38, 488–498.
- ESSL, F., DULLINGER, S., RABITSCH, W., HULME, P. E., HULBER, K., JAROŠÍK, V., KLEINBAUER, I., KRAUSMANN, F., KŪHN, I., NENTWIG, W., VILÀ, M., GENOVESI, P., GHERARDI, F., DESPREZ-LOUSTEAU, M. L., ROQUES, A., et al. (2011). Socioeconomic legacy yields an invasion debt. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **108**, 203–207.
- ESSL, F., LENZNER, B., COURCHAMP, F., DULLINGER, S., JESCHKE, J. M., KÜHN, I., LEUNG, B., MOSER, D., ROURA-PASCUAL, N. & SEEBENS, H. (2019b). Introducing AlienScenarios: a project to develop scenarios and models of biological invasions for the 21st century. *NeoBiota* 45, 1–17.
- ESVELT, K. & GEMMELL, N. J. (2017). Conservation demands safe gene drive. PLoS Biology 15, e2003850.
- ESVELT, K. M., SMIDLER, A. L., CATTERUCCIA, F. & CHURCH, G. M. (2014). Concerning RNA-guided gene drives for the alteration of wild populations. *eLife* 3, e03401.
- EVANS, B. R., KOTSAKIOZI, P., COSTA-DA-SILVA, A. L., IOSHINO, R. S., GARZIERA, L., PEDROSA, M. C., MALAVASI, A., VIRGINIO, J. F., CAPURRO, M. L. & POWELL, J. R. (2019). Transgenic Aedes aegypti mosquitoes transfer genes into a natural population. Scientific Reports 9, 13047.
- FAO (2019). Database on Introductions of Aquatic Species (DIAS). FAO Fisheries and Aquaculture Department, Rome http://www.fao.org/fishery/topic/14786/en.
- FEI, S., MORIN, R. S., OSWALT, C. M. & LIEBHOLD, A. M. (2019). Biomass losses resulting from insect and disease invasions in US forests. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 116, 17371–17376.
- FINLAYSON, C. M., DAVIES, G. T., MOOMAW, W. R., CHMURA, G. L., NATALI, S. M., PERRY, J. E., ROULET, N. & SUTTON-GRIER, A. E. (2019). The second warning to humanity: providing a context for wetland management and policy. *Wetlands* 39, 1–5.
- FISHER, M. C., HENK, D. A., BRIGGS, C. J., BROWNSTEIN, J. S., MADOFF, L. C., MCCRAW, S. L. & GURR, S. J. (2012). Emerging fungal threats to animal, plant and ecosystem health. *Nature* **484**, 186–194.
- FOXCROFT, L. C., JAROŠÍK, V., PYŠEK, P., RICHARDSON, D. M. & ROUGET, M. (2011). Protected-area boundaries as filters of plant invasions. *Conservation Biology* 25, 400–405.
- FOXCROFT, L. C., PYŠEK, P., RICHARDSON, D. M. & GENOVESI, P. (2013). Plant Invasions in Protected Areas: Patterns, Problems and Challenges. Springer, Berlin.
- FOXCROFT, L. C., PYŠEK, P., RICHARDSON, D. M., GENOVESI, P. & MACFADYEN, S. (2017). Plant invasion science in protected areas: progress and priorities. *Biological Invasions* 19, 1353–1378.
- FOXCROFT, L. C., RICHARDSON, D. M. & WILSON, J. R. U. (2008). Ornamental plants as invasive aliens: problems and solutions in Kruger National Park, South Africa. *Environmental Management* 41, 32–51.
- FOXCROFT, L. C., VAN WILGEN, B. W., ABRAHAMS, B., ESLER, K. J. & WANNENBURGH, A. (2020). Knowing-doing continuum or knowing-doing gap? Information flow between researchers and managers of biological invasions in South Africa. In *Biological Invasions* in *South Africa* (eds B. W. VAN WILGEN, J. MEASEY, D. M. RICHARDSON, J. R. U. WILSON and T. A. ZENGEYA), pp. 831–853. Springer, Berlin.
- FRASER, C. I., MORRISON, A. K., HOGG, A. M., MACAYA, E. C., VAN SEBILLE, E., RYAN, P. G., PADOVAN, A., JACK, C., VALDIVIA, N. & WATERS, J. M. (2018). Antarctica's ecological isolation will be broken by storm-driven dispersal and warming. *Nature Climate Change* 8, 704–708.
- FU, G., CONDON, K. C., EFTON, M. J., GONG, P. L., JIN, L., CONDON, G. C., MORRISON, N. I., DAFA'ALLA, T. H. & ALPHEY, L. (2007). Female-specific insect lethality engineered using alternative splicing. *Nature Biotechnology* 25, 353–357.
- FULLER, P. & NEILSON, M. E. (2015). The U.S. Geological Survey's nonindigenous aquatic species database: over thirty years of tracking introduced aquatic species in the United States (and counting). *Management of Biological Invasions* 6, 159–170.

- GAERTNER, M., BIGGS, R., TE BEEST, M., HUI, C., MOLOFSKY, J. & RICHARDSON, D. M. (2014). Invasive plants as drivers of regime shifts: identifying high-priority invaders that alter feedback relationships. *Diversity and Distributions* **20**, 733–744.
- GALANIDI, M., ZENETOS, A. & BACHER, S. (2018). Assessing the socio-economic impacts of priority marine invasive fishes in the Mediterranean with the newly proposed SEICAT methodology. *Mediterranean Marine Science* 19, 107–123.
- GALLARDO, B., ALDRIDGE, D. C., GONZÁLEZ-MORENO, P., PERGL, J., PIZARRO, M., PYŠEK, P., THUILLER, W., YESSON, C. & VILÀ, M. (2017). Protected areas offer refuge from invasive species spreading under climate change. *Global Change Biology* 23, 5331–5343.
- GALLARDO, B., CLAVERO, M., SÁNCHEZ, M. I. & VILÀ, M. (2016). Global ecological impacts of invasive species in aquatic ecosystems. *Global Change Biology* **22**, 151–163.
- GARCÍA DE LOMAS, J. & VILÀ, M. (2015). Lists of harmful alien organisms: are the national regulations adapted to the global world? *Biological Invasions* 17, 3081–3091.GASTON, K. J., JACKSON, S. F., CANTU-SALAZAR, L. & CRUZ-PINON, G. (2008). The
- cological performance of protected areas. Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics 39, 93–113.
- GENOVESI, P., CARBONERAS, C., VILÀ, M. & WALTON, P. (2014). EU adopts innovative legislation on invasive species: a step towards a global response to biological invasions? *Biological Invasions* 17, 307–311.
- GENOVESI, P. & MONACO, A. (2013). Guidelines for addressing invasive species in protected areas. In *Plant Invasions in Protected Areas* (eds L. C. FOXCROFT, P. PYŠEK, D. M. RICHARDSON and P. GENOVESI), pp. 487–506. Springer, Dordrecht.
- GHERMANDI, A., GALIL, B., GOWDY, J. & NUNES, P. A. (2015). Jellyfish outbreak impacts on recreation in the Mediterranean Sea: welfare estimates from a socioeconomic pilot survey in Israel. *Ecosystem Services* 11, 140–147.
- GIORIA, M., JAROŠÍK, V. & PYŠEK, P. (2014). Impact of invasions by alien plants on soil seed bank communities: emerging patterns. *Perspectives in Plant Ecology, Evolution and Systematics* 16, 132–142.
- GONZÁLEZ-MORENO, P., DIEZ, J. D., IBÁÑEZ, I., FONT, X. & VILÀ, M. (2014). Plant invasions are context-dependent: multiscale effects of climate, human activity and habitat. *Diversity and Distributions* 20, 720–731.
- GOODMAN, P. S. (2003). Assessing management effectiveness and setting priorities in protected areas in KwaZulu-Natal. *BioScience* 53, 843–850.
- GROOM, Q., STRUBBE, D., ADRIAENS, T., DAVIS, A. J., DESMET, P., OLDONI, D., REYSERHOVE, L., ROY, H. E. & VANDERHOEVEN, S. (2019). Empowering citizens to inform decision-making as a way forward to support invasive alien species policy. *Citizen Science: Theory and Practice* 4, 33.
- HAEUSER, E., DAWSON, W., THUILLER, W., DULLINGER, S., BLOCK, S., BOSSDORF, O., CARBONI, M., CONTI, L., DULLINGER, I., ESSL, F., KLONNER, G., MOSER, D., MUNKEMULLER, T., PAREPA, M., TALLUTO, M. V., KREFT, H., PERGL, J., PYŠEK, P., WEIGELT, P., WINTER, M., HERMY, M., VAN DER VEKEN, S., ROQUET, C. & VAN KLEUNEN, M. (2018). The European ornamental garden flora as an invasion debt under climate change. *Journal of Applied Ecology* 55, 2386–2395.
- HANSPACH, J., KÜHN, I., PYŠEK, P., BOOS, E. & KLOTZ, S. (2008). Correlates of naturalization and occupancy of introduced ornamentals in Germany. *Perspectives in Plant Ecology Evolution and Systematics* **10**, 241–250.
- HARVEY-SAMUEL, T., ANT, T. & ALPHEY, L. (2017). Towards the genetic control of invasive species. *Biological Invasions* 19, 1683–1703.
- HAWKINS, C. L., BACHER, S., ESSL, F., HULME, P. E., JESCHKE, J. M., KUHN, I., KUMSCHICK, S., NENTWIG, W., PERGL, J., PYŠEK, P., RABITSCH, W., RICHARDSON, D. M., VILÅ, M., WILSON, J. R. U., GENOVESI, P. & BLACKBURN, T. M. (2015). Framework and guidelines for implementing the proposed IUCN environmental impact classification for alien taxa (EICAT). Diversity and Distributions 21, 1360–1363.
- HEJDA, M., PYŠEK, P. & JAROŠÍK, V. (2009). Impact of invasive plants on the species richness, diversity and composition of invaded communities. *Journal of Ecology* 97, 393–403.
- HEJDA, M., ŠTAJEROVÁ, K. & PYŠEK, P. (2017). Dominance has a biogeographical component: do plants tend to exert stronger impacts in their invaded rather than native range? *Journal of Biogeography* 44, 18–27.
- HEYWOOD, V. H. & BRUNEL, S. (2009). Code of Conduct on Horticulture and Invasive Alien Plants. Nature and Environment No. 155. Council of Europe Publishing, Strasbourg.
- HEYWOOD, V. H. & SHARROCK, S. (2013). European Code of Conduct for Botanic Gardens on Invasive Alien Species. Council of Europe Publishing, Strasbourg.
- HOUSTON, D. B. & SCHREINER, E. G. (1995). Alien species in national parks: drawing lines in space and time. *Conservation Biology* 9, 204–209.
- HU, J. H., MILLER, S. M., GEURTS, M. H., TANG, W., CHEN, L., SUN, N., ZEINS, C. M., GAO, X., REES, H. A., LIN, Z. & LIU, D. R. (2018). Evolved Cas9 variants with broad PAM compatibility and high DNA specificity. *Nature* 556, 57–63.
- HUETE-PEREZ, J. A., MEYER, A. & AVAREZ, P. J. (2015). Rethink the Nicaragua Canal. Science 347, 355.
- HUGHES, K. A., PESCOTT, O. L., PEYTON, J., ADRIAENS, T., COTTER-COOK, E. J., KEY, G., RABITSCH, W., TRICARICO, E., BARNES, D. K. A., BAXTER, N., BELCHIER, M., BLAKE, D., CONVEY, P., DAWSON, W., FROHLICH, D., et al. (2020). Invasive non-

native species likely to threaten biodiversity and ecosystems in the Antarctic peninsula region. *Global Change Biology* 26, 2702–2716.

- HUISKES, A. H. L., GREMMEN, N. J. M., BERGSTROM, D. M., FRENOT, Y., HUGHES, K. A., IMURA, S., KIEFER, K., LEBOUVIER, M., LEE, J. E., TSUJIMOTO, M., WARE, C., VAN DE VIJVER, B. & CHOWN, S. L. (2014). Aliens in Antarctica: assessing transfer of plant propagules by human visitors to reduce invasion risk. *Biological Conservation* 171, 278–284.
- HULME, P. E. (2009). Trade, transport and trouble: managing invasive species pathways in an era of globalization. *Journal of Applied Ecology* 46, 10–18.
- HULME, P. E. (2011a). Biosecurity: the changing face of invasion biology. In *Fifty Years of Invasion Ecology: The Legacy of Charles Elton* (ed. D. M. RICHARDSON), pp. 73–88. Blackwell Publishing, Oxford.
- HULME, P. E. (2011b). Contrasting impacts of climate-driven flowering phenology on changes in alien and native plant species distributions. *New Phytologist* 189, 272–281.
- HULLME, P. E. (2014a). Bridging the knowing-doing gap: know-who, know-what, knowwhy, know-how and know-when. *Journal of Applied Ecology* 51, 1131–1136.
- HULME, P. E. (2014b). Invasive species challenge the global response to emerging diseases. *Trends in Parasitology* 30, 267–270.
- HULME, P. E. (2015). Invasion pathways at a crossroad: policy and research challenges for managing alien species introductions. *Journal of Applied Ecology* 52, 1418–1424.
- HULME, P. E. (2017). Climate change and biological invasions: evidence, expectations, and response options. *Biological Reviews* 92, 1297–1313.
- HULME, P. E. (2018). Protected land: threat of invasive species. Science 361, 561-562.
- HULME, P. E. (2020). Plant invasions in New Zealand: global lessons in prevention, eradication and control. *Biological Invasions* 22, 1539–1562.
- HULME, P. E., BACHER, S., KENIS, M., KLOTZ, S., KÜHN, I., MINCHIN, D., NENTWIG, W., OLENIN, S., PANOV, V., PERGL, J., PYŠEK, P., ROQUES, A., SOL, D., SOLARZ, W. & VILÀ, M. (2008). Grasping at the routes of biological invasions: a framework for integrating pathways into policy. *Journal of Applied Ecology* **45**, 403–414.
- HULME, P. E., PYŠEK, P., NENTWIG, W. & VILÅ, M. (2009). Will threat of biological invasions unite the European Union? Science 324, 40–41.
- HULME, P. E., PYŠEK, P., PERGL, J., JAROŠÍK, V., SCHAFFNER, U. & VILÀ, M. (2014). Greater focus needed on alien plant impacts in protected areas. *Conservation Letters* 7, 459–466.
- HULME, P. E. & WESER, C. (2011). Mixed messages from multiple information sources on invasive species: a case of too much of a good thing? *Diversity and Distribution* 17, 1152–1160.
- HUSSNER, A., STIERS, I., VERHOFSTAD, M. J. J. M., BAKKER, E. S., GRUTTERS, B. M. C., HAURY, J., VAN VALKENBURG, J. L. C. H., BRUNDU, G., NEWMAN, J., CLAYTON, J. S., ANDERSON, L. W. J. & HOFSTRA, D. (2017). Management and control methods of invasive alien freshwater aquatic plants: a review. *Aquatic Bolany* 136, 112–137.
- IUCN (International Union for Conservation of Nature) (2000). Guidelines for the Prevention of Biodiversity Loss Caused by Alien Invasive Species. IUCN, Gland.
- IUCN (International Union for Conservation of Nature) (2017). The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species. IUCN, Gland.
- JENKINS, C. N. & JOPPA, L. (2009). Expansion of the global terrestrial protected area system. *Biological Conservation* 142, 2166–2174.
- JESCHKE, J. M., BACHER, S., BLACKBURN, T. M., DICK, J. T. A., ESSL, F., EVANS, T., GAERTNER, M., HULME, P. E., KUHN, I., MRUGALA, A., PERGL, J., PYŠEK, P., RABITSCH, W., RICCIARDI, A., RICHARDSON, D. M., et al. (2014). Defining the impact of non-native species. *Conservation Biology* 28, 1188–1194.
- JESCHKE, J. M. & STRAYER, D. L. (2005). Invasion success of vertebrates in Europe and North America. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 102, 7198–7202.
- JOHNSON, N. S., SIEFKES, M. J., WAGNER, C. H., DAWSON, H., WANG, H., STEEVES, T., TWOHEY, M. & LI, W. (2013). A synthesized mating pheromone component increases adult sea lamprey (*Petromyzon marinus*) trap capture in management scenarios. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences* 70, 1101–1108.
- JONES, H. P., HOLMES, N. D., BUTCHART, S. H. M., TERSHY, B. R., KAPPES, P. J., CORKERY, I., AGUIRRE-MUÑOZ, A., ARMSTRONG, D. P., BONNAUD, E., BURBIDGE, A. A., CAMPBELL, K., COURCHAMP, F., COWAN, P. E., CUTHBERT, R. J., EBBERT, S., GENOVESI, P., HOWALD, G. R., KEITT, B. S., KRESS, S. W., MISKELLY, C. M., OPPEL, S., PONCET, S., RAUZON, M. J., ROCAMORA, G., RUSSELL, J. C., SAMANIEGO-HERRERA, A., SEDDON, P. J., SPATZ, D. R., TOWNS, D. R. & CROLL, D. A. (2016). Invasive mammal eradication on islands results in substantial conservation gains. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 113, 4033–4038.
- JONES, K. R., VENTER, O., FULLER, R. A., ALLAN, J. R., MAXWELL, S. L., NEGRET, P. J. & WATSON, J. E. M. (2018). One-third of global protected land is under intense human pressure. *Science* **360**, 788–791.
- JUFFE-BIGNOLI, D., HARRISON, I., BUTCHART, S. H. M., FLITCROFT, R., HERMOSO, V., JONAS, H., LUKASIEWICZ, A., THIEME, M., TURAK, E., BINGHAM, H., DALTON, J., DARWALL, W., DEGUIGNET, M., DUDLEY, N., GARDNER, R., et al. (2016). Achieving Aichi Biodiversity Target 11 to improve the performance of protected areas and

conserve freshwater biodiversity. Aquatic Conservation – Marine and Freshwater Ecosystems 26(Suppl. 1), 133–151.

- KEAN, J. M., SUCKLING, D. M., SULLIVAN, N. J., TOBIN, P. C., STRINGER, L. D., SMITH, G. R., KIMBER, B., LEE, D. C., FLORES VARGAS, R., FLETCHER, J., MACBETH, F., MCCULLOUGH, D. G., HERMS, D. A., et al. (2017). Gerda: Global Eradication and Response Database. B3–Better Border Security, New Zealand http:// b3.net.nz/gerda.
- KELLER, R., GEIST, J., JESCHKE, J. & KÜHN, I. (2011). Invasive species in Europe: ecology, status, and policy. *Environmental Sciences Europe* 23, 23.
- KELLER, R., LODGE, D. M. & FINNOFF, D. (2007). Risk assessment for invasive species produces net bioeconomic benefits. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the* United States of America 104, 203–207.
- KENIS, M., AUGER-ROZENBERG, M.-A., ROQUES, A., TIMMS, L., PÉRÉ, C., COCK, M. J. W., SETTELE, J., AUGUSTIN, S. & LOPEZ-VAAMONDE, C. (2009). Ecological effects of invasive alien insects. *Biological Invasions* 11, 21–45.
- KERR, G. N. & SWAFFIELD, S. R. (2012). Identifying cultural service values of a small river in the agricultural landscape of Canterbury, New Zealand, using combined methods. *Society and Natural Resources* 25, 1330–1339.
- KETTUNEN, M., GENOVESI, P., GOLLASCH, S., PAGAD, S., STARFINGER, U., TEN BRINK, P. & SHINE, C. (2009). Technical Support to EU Strategy on Invasive Species (IAS): Assessment of the Impacts of IAS in Europe and the EU (Final Module Report for the European Commission). Institute for European Environmental Policy (IEEP), Brussels.
- KIDEYS, A. E. & GUCU, A. C. (1995). *Rhopilema nomadica*: a poisonous indo-Pacific scyphomedusan new to the Mediterranean coast of Turkey. *Israel Journal of Zoology* 41, 615–617.
- KOUBA, A., PETRUSEK, A. & KOZÁK, P. (2014). Continental-wide distribution of crayfish species in Europe: update and maps. *Knowledge and Management of Aquatic Ecosystems*, 413, art05.
- KRAUS, F. (2009). Alien Reptiles and Amphibians: A Scientific Compendium and Analysis. Springer, Berlin.
- KRAUS, F. (2015). Impacts from invasive reptiles and amphibians. Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics 46, 75–97.
- KUEFFER, C. & KULL, C. A. (2017). Non-native species and the aesthetics of nature. In Impact of Biological Invasions on Ecosystem Services (eds M. VILA and P. E. HULME), pp. 311–324. Springer, Berlin.
- KÜHN, I., WOLF, J. & SCHNEIDER, A. (2017). Is there an urban effect in alien plant invasions? *Biological Invasions* 19, 3505–3513.
- KUMSCHICK, S., BACHER, S., EVANS, T., MARKOVÁ, Z., PERGL, J., PYŠEK, P., VAES-PETIGNAT, S., VAN DER VEER, G., VILÀ, M. & NENTWIG, W. (2015a). Comparing impacts of alien plants and animals using a standard scoring system. *Journal of Applied Ecology* 52, 552–561.
- KUMSCHICK, S., GAERTNER, M., VILÀ, M., ESSL, F., JESCHKE, J. M., PYŠEK, P., RICCIARDI, A., BACHER, S., BLACKBURN, T. M., DICK, J. T. A., EVANS, T., HULME, P. E., KÜHN, I., MRUGAŁA, A., PERGL, J., RABITSCH, W., RICHARDSON, D. M., SENDEK, A. & WINTER, M. (2015b). Ecological impacts of alien species: quantification, scope, caveats and recommendations. *BioScience* 65, 55–63.
- KUMSCHICK, S., VIMERCATI, G., DE VILLIERS, F. A., MOKHATLA, M. M., DAVIES, S. J., THORP, C. J., REBELO, A. D. & MEASEY, G. J. (2017). Impact assessment with different scoring tools: how well do alien amphibian assessments match? *NeoBiota* 33, 53–66.
- LATOMBE, G., CANAVAN, S., HIRSCH, H., HUI, C., KUMSCHICK, S., NSIKANI, M. M., POTGIETER, L. J., SAUL, W.-C., TURNER, S. C., WILSON, J. R. U., YANNELLI, F. A. & RICHARDSON, D. M. (2019). A four-component classification of uncertainties in biological invasions: implications for management. *Ecosphere* 10, e02669.
- LATOMBE, G., PYŠEK, P., JESCHKE, J. M., BLACKBURN, T. M., BACHER, S., CAPINHA, C., COSTELLO, M. J., FERNÁNDEZ, M., GREGORY, R. D., HOBERN, D., HUI, C., JETZ, W., KUMSCHICK, S., MCGRANNACHAN, C., PERGL, J., ROY, H. E., SCALERA, R., SQUIRES, Z. E., WILSON, J. R. U., WINTER, M., GENOVESI, P. & MCGEOCH, M. A. (2017). A vision for global monitoring of biological invasions. *Biological Conservation* 213, 295–308.
- LAZZARO, L., ESSL, F., LUGLIÈ, A., PADEDDA, B. M., PYŠEK, P. & BRUNDU, G. (2018). Invasive alien plant impacts on human health and well-being. In *Invasive Species and Human Health Pages* (eds G. MAZZA and E. TRICARIO), pp. 16–33. CAB International Publishing, Wallingford.
- LEARY, J. J. K., GOODING, J., CHAPMAN, J., RADFORD, A., MAHNKEN, B. & COX, J. J. (2013). Calibration of an herbicide ballistic technology (HBT) helicopter platform targeting *Miconia calvescens* in Hawaii. *Invasive Plant Science and Management* 6, 292–303.
- LEONARD, S. P., POWELL, J. E., PERUTKA, J., GENG, P., HECKMANN, L. C., HORAK, R. D., DAVIES, B. W., ELLINGTON, A. D., BARRICK, J. E. & MORAN, N. A. (2020). Engineered symbionts activate honey bee immunity and limit pathogens. *Science* 367, 573–576.
- LETNIC, M., WEBB, J. K. & SHINE, R. (2008). Invasive cane toads (*Bufo marinus*) cause mass mortality of freshwater crocodiles (*Crocodylus johnstoni*) in tropical Australia. *Biological Conservation* 141, 1773–1782.
- LEUNG, B., SPRINGBORN, M. R., TURNER, J. A. & BROCKERHOFF, E. G. (2014). Pathwaylevel risk analysis: the net present value of an invasive species policy in the US. *Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment* 12, 273–279.

- LEVER, C. (1992). They Dined on Eland: The Story of the Acclimatisation Societies. Quiller Press Ltd, London.
- LI, K., BRANT, C. O., HUERTAS, M., HESSLER, E. J., MEZEI, G., SCOTT, A. M., HOYE, T. R. & LI, W. (2018). Fatty-acid derivative acts as a sea lamprey migratory pheromone. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 115, 8603–8608.
- LIEBHOLD, A. M., YAMANAKA, T., ROQUES, A., AUGUSTIN, S., CHOWN, S. L., BROCKERHOFF, E. G. & PYŠEK, P. (2018). Plant diversity drives global patterns of insect invasions. *Scientific Reports* 8, 12095.
- LOCKWOOD, J. L., WELBOURNE, D. J., ROMAGOSA, C., CASSEY, P., MANDRAK, N. E., STRECKER, A., LEUNG, B., STRINGHAM, O. C., UDELL, B., EPISCOPIO-STURGEON, D. J., TLUSTY, M. F., SINCLAIR, J., SPRINGBORN, M., PIENAAR, E. F., RHYNE, A. L., et al. (2019). When pets become pests: the role of the exotic pet trade in producing invasive vertebrate animals. *Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment* 17, 323–330.
- LONG, J. L. (2003). Introduced Manmals of the World: Their History, Distribution and Influence. CAB International Publishing, Wallingford.
- LONSDALE, W. M. (1999). Global patterns of plant invasions and the concept of invasibility. *Ecology* 80, 1522–1536.
- LOSS, S. R., TERWILLIGER, L. A. & PETERSON, A. C. (2011). Assisted colonization: integrating conservation strategies in the face of climate change. *Biological Conservation* 144, 92–100.
- MACDOUGALL, A. S. & TURKINGTON, R. (2005). Are invasive species the drivers or passengers of change in degraded ecosystems? *Ecology* 86, 42–55.
- MAMMOLA, S., CARDOSO, P., CULVER, D. C., DEHARVENG, L., FERREIRA, R. L., FIŠER, C., GALASSI, D. M. P., GRIEBLER, C., HALSE, S., HUMPHREYS, W. F., ISAIA, M., MALARD, F., MARTINEZ, A., MOLDOVAN, O. T., NIEMILLER, M. L., et al. (2019). Scientists' warning on the conservation of subterranean ecosystems. *Bioscience* 69, 641–650.
- MARSBERG, A., KEMLER, M., JAMI, F., NAGEL, J. H., POSTMA-SMIDT, A., NAIDOO, S., WINGFIELD, M. J., CROUS, P. W., SPATAFORA, J. W., HESSE, C. N., ROBBERTSE, B. & SLIPPERS, B. (2017). *Botryosphaeria dothidea*: a latent pathogen of global importance to woody plant health. *Molecular Plant Pathology* 18, 477–488.
- MARTINEZ, B., REASER, J. K., DEHGAN, A., ZAMFT, B., BAISCH, D., MCCORMICK, C., GIORDANO, A. J., AICHER, R. & SELBE, S. (2020). Technology innovation: advancing capacities for the early detection of and rapid response to invasive species. *Biological Invasions* 22, 75–100.
- MAUREL, N., HANSPACH, J., KÜHN, I., PYŠEK, P. & VAN KLEUNEN, M. (2016). Introduction bias affects relationships between the characteristics of ornamental alien plants and their naturalization success. *Global Ecology and Biogeography* 25, 1500–1509.
- MAZOR, T., DOROPOULOS, C., SCHWARZMUELLER, F., GLADISH, D. W., KUMARAN, N., MERKER, K., DI MARCO, M. & GAGIC, V. (2018). Global mismatch of policy and research on drivers of biodiversity loss. *Nature Ecology and Evolution* 2, 1071–1074.
- MCCARTHY, A. H., PECK, L. S., HUGHES, K. A. & ALDRIDGE, D. C. (2019). Antarctica: the final frontier for marine biological invasions. *Global Change Biology* 25, 2221–2241.
- MCGEOCH, M. A., GENOVESI, P., BELLINGHAM, P. J., COSTELLO, M. J., MCGRANNACHAN, C. & SHEPPARD, A. (2016). Prioritizing species, pathways, and sites to achieve conservation targets for biological invasion. *Biological Invasions* 18, 299–314.
- MCGEOCH, M. A., SHAW, J. D., TERAUDS, A., LEE, J. E. & CHOWN, S. L. (2015). Monitoring biological invasion across the broader Antarctic: a baseline and indicator framework. *Global Environmental Change* 32, 108–125.
- MCGONIGLE, B., PRESNAIL, J. K. & MUTTI, N. S. (2016). Compositions and methods for insecticidal control of stinkbugs. United States patent application publication (10) pub. No.: US 2016/0108425A1.
- MEASEY, J., VISSER, V., DGEBUADZE, Y., INDERJIT LI, B., ZENNI, R. D., ZILLER, S. & RICHARDSON, D. M. (2019). The world needs BRICS countries to build capacity in invasion science. *PLoS Biology* 17, e3000404.
- Millennium Ecosystem Assessment (2005). *Ecosystems and Human Well-Being: Synthesis.* Island Press, Washington.
- MONACO, M., GENOVESI, P. & MIDDLETON, A. (2016). European Code of Conduct on Hunting and Invasive Alien Species. Council of Europe Publishing, Strasbourg.
- MORAND, S. (2017). Infections and diseases in wildlife by non-native organisms. In Impact of Biological Invasions on Ecosystem Services (eds M. VILA and P. E. HULME), pp. 177–190. Springer, Berlin.
- MORO, D., BYRNE, M., KENNEDY, M., CAMPBELL, S. & TIZARD, M. (2018). Identifying knowledge gaps for gene drive research to control invasive animal species: the next CRISPR step. *Global Ecology and Conservation* 13, e00363.
- MUJINGNI EPSE CHO, J. T. (2012). Quantification of the Impacts of Water Hyacinth on Riparian Communities in Cameroon and Assessment of an Appropriate Method of Control: The Case of the Wouri River Basin. World Maritime University Dissertations. 29. Malmö, Sweden. http://commons.wmu.se/all_dissertations/29.
- National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine (2016). Gene Drives on the Horizon. Advancing Science, Navigating Uncertainty, and Aligning Research with Public Values. National Academies Press, Washington.

- NENTWIG, W., BACHER, S., KUMSCHICK, S., PYŠEK, P. & VILÅ, M. (2018). More than "100 worst" alien species in Europe. *Biological Invasions* 20, 1611–1621.
- NENTWIG, W., BACHER, S., PYSEK, P., VILA, M. & KUMSCHICK, S. (2016). The generic impact scoring system (GISS): a standardized tool to quantify the impacts of alien species. *Environmental Monitoring and Assessment* 188, 315.
- NORDHEIMER, R. & JESCHKE, J. M. (2018). Disturbance hypothesis. In *Invasion Biology: Hypotheses and Evidence* (eds J. M. JESCHKE and T. HEGER), pp. 71–78. CAB International Publishing, Wallingford.
- NOVOA, A., KAPLAN, H., WILSON, J. R. U. & RICHARDSON, D. M. (2016). Resolving a prickly situation: involving stakeholders in invasive cactus management in South Africa. *Environmental Management* 57, 998–1008.
- NOVOA, A., SHACKLETON, R., CANAVAN, S., CYBÈLE, C., DAVIES, S. J., DEHNEN-SCHMUTZ, K., FRIED, J., GAERTNER, M., GEERTS, S., GRIFFITHS, C. L., KAPLAN, H., KUMSCHICK, S., LE MAITRE, D. C., MEASEY, G. J., NUNES, A. L., et al. (2018). A framework for engaging stakeholders on the management of alien species. *Journal* of Environmental Management 205, 286–297.
- NUÑEZ, M. & PAUCHARD, A. (2010). Biological invasions in developing and developed countries: does one model fit all? *Biological Invasions* 12, 707–714.
- OCCHIPINTI-AMBROGI, A. & GALIL, B. S. (2004). A uniform terminology on bioinvasions: a chimera or an operative tool? *Marine Pollution Bulletin* **49**, 688–694.
- PAAP, T., DE BEER, Z. W., MIGLIORINI, D., NEL, W. J. & WINGFIELD, M. J. (2018). The polyphagous shot hole borer (PSHB) and its fungal symbiont *Fusarium euvallaceae*: a new invasion in South Africa. *Australasian Plant Pathology* 47, 231–237.
- PAGAD, S., GENOVESI, P., CARNEVALI, L., SCALERA, R. & CLOUT, M. (2015). IUCN SSC invasive species specialist group: invasive alien species information management supporting practitioners, policy makers and decision takers. *Management of Biological Invasions* 6, 127–135.
- PAGAD, S., GENOVESI, P., CARNEVALI, L., SCHIGEL, D. & MCGEOCH, M. A. (2018). Introducing the global register of introduced and invasive species. *Scientific Data* 5, 170202.
- PAINI, D. R., SHEPPARD, A. W., COOK, D. C., DE BARRO, P. J., WORNER, S. P. & THOMAS, M. B. (2016). Global threat to agriculture from invasive species. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 113, 7575–7579.
- PAOLUCCI, E. M., MACISAAC, H. J. & RICCIARDI, A. (2013). Origin matters: alien consumers inflict greater damage on prey populations than do native consumers. *Diversity and Distributions* 19, 988–955.
- PARTNERS, D. I. I. S. E. (2014). The Database of Island Invasive Species Eradications. Island Conservation, Coastal Conservation Action Laboratory UCSC, IUCN SSC Invasive Species Specialist Group, University of Auckland and Landcare Research, New Zealand. http://diisc.islandconservation.org.
- PAUCHARD, A., MEYERSON, L. A., BACHER, S., BLACKBURN, T. M., BRUNDU, G., CADOTTE, M., COURCHAMP, F., ESSL, F., GENOVESI, P., HAIDER, S., HOLMES, N., HULME, P. E., JESCHKE, J., LOCKWOOD, J., NOVOA, A., et al. (2018). Biodiversity assessments: origin matters. *PLoS Biology* 16, e2006686.
- PEDUZZI, P., CHATENOUX, B., DAO, H., DE BONO, A., HEROLD, C., KOSSIN, J., MOUTON, F. & NORDBECK, O. (2012). Global trends in tropical cyclone risk. *Nature Climate Change* 2, 289–294.
- PELTZER, D. A., BELLINGHAM, P. J., DICKIE, I. A., HOULISTON, G., HULME, P. E., LIVER, P. O. B., MCGLONE, M., RICHARDSON, S. J. & WOOD, J. (2019). Scale and complexity implications of making New Zealand predator-free by 2050. *Journal of the Royal Society of New Zealand* 49, 412–439.
- PERGL, J., GENOVESI, P. & PYŠEK, P. (2016). Better management of alien species. Nature 531, 173.
- PERGL, J., PYŠEK, P., BACHER, S., ESSL, F., GENOVESI, P., HARROWER, C. A., HULME, P. E., JESCHKE, J. M., KENIS, M., KÜHN, I., PERGLOVÁ, I., RABITSCH, W., ROQUES, A., ROY, D. B., ROY, H. E., et al. (2017). Troubling travellers: are ecologically harmful alien species associated with particular introduction pathways? *NeoBiola* 32, 1–20.
- PLUESS, T., CANNON, R., JAROŠÍK, V., PERGL, J., PYŠEK, P. & BACHER, S. (2012). When are eradication campaigns successful? A test of common assumptions. *Biological Invasions* 14, 1365–1378.
- POCOCK, M. J., CHANDLER, M., BONNEY, R., THORNHILL, I., ALBIN, A., AUGUST, T., BACHMAN, S., BROWN, P. M., CUNHA, D. G. F., GREZ, A., JACKSON, C., PETERS, M., RABARIJAON, N. R., ROY, H. E., ZAVIEZO, T., et al. (2018). A vision for global biodiversity monitoring with citizen science. *Advances in Ecological Research* 59, 169–223.
- PYŠEK, P., BLACKBURN, T. M., GARCÍA-BERTHOU, E., PERGLOVÁ, I. & RABITSCH, W. (2017a). Displacement and local extinction of native and endemic species. In *Impact* of Biological Invasions on Ecosystem Services (eds M. VILÅ and P. E. HULME), pp. 157– 175. Springer, Berlin.
- PYŠEK, P., GENOVESI, P., PERGL, J., MONACO, A. & WILD, J. (2013). Invasion of protected areas in Europe: an old continent facing new problems. In *Plant Invasions in Protected Areas: Patterns, Problems and Challenges* (eds L. C. FOXCROFT, P. PYŠEK, D. M. RICHARDSON and P. GENOVESI), pp. 209–240. Springer, Dordrecht.
- Pyšek, P., Jarošík, V., Hulme, P. E., Kühn, I., Wild, J., Arianoutsou, M., Bacher, S., Chiron, F., Didziulis, V., Essl, F., Genovesi, P., Gherardi, F., Hejda, M., Kark, S.,

LAMBDON, P. W., et al. (2010). Disentangling the role of environmental and human pressures on biological invasions across Europe. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **107**, 12157–12162.

- PYŠEK, P., JAROŠÍK, V., HULME, P. E., PERGL, J., HEJDA, M., SCHAFFNER, U. & VILÀ, M. (2012). A global assessment of invasive plant impacts on resident species, communities and ecosystems: the interaction of impact measures, invading species' traits and environment. *Global Change Biology* 18, 1725–1737.
- PYŠEK, P., JAROŠÍK, V. & KUČERA, T. (2003). Inclusion of native and alien species in temperate nature reserves: an historical study from Central Europe. *Conservation Biology* 17, 1414–1424.
- PYŠEK, P., PERGL, J., ESSL, F., LENZNER, B., DAWSON, W., KREFT, H., WEIGELT, P., WINTER, M., KARTESZ, J., NISHINO, M., ANTONOVA, L. A., BARCELONA, J. F., CABEZAS, F. J., CÁRDENAS, D., CÁRDENAS-TORO, J., et al. (2017b). Naturalized alien flora of the world: species diversity, taxonomic and phylogenetic patterns, geographic distribution and global hotspots of plant invasion. *Preslia* 89, 203–274.
- PYŠEK, P. & RICHARDSON, D. M. (2010). Invasive species, environmental change and management, and health. Annual Review of Environment and Resources 35, 25–55.
- PYŠEK, P., RICHARDSON, D. M., PERGL, J., JAROŠÍK, V., SIXTOVÁ, Z. & WEBER, E. (2008). Geographical and taxonomic biases in invasion ecology. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution* 23, 237–244.
- PYŠEK, P., RICHARDSON, D. M., REJMÁNEK, M., WEBSTER, G., WILLIAMSON, M. & KIRSCHNER, J. (2004). Alien plants in checklists and floras: towards better communication between taxonomists and ecologists. *Taxon* 53, 131–143.
- RANDALL, J. M. (2011). Protected areas. In *Encyclopaedia of Biological Invasions* (eds D. SIMBERLOFF and M. REJMÁNEK), pp. 563–567. University of California Press, Berkley.
- REDDING, D. W., PIGOT, A. L., DYER, E. E., SEKERCIOGLU, C. H., KARK, S. & BLACKBURN, T. M. (2019). Location-level processes drive the establishment of alien bird populations worldwide. *Nature* 571, 103–106.
- REJMÁNEK, M. & RICHARDSON, D. M. (2013). Trees and shrubs as invasive alien species 2013 update of the global database. *Diversity and Distributions* 19, 1093–1094.
- RICCIARDI, A., BLACKBURN, T. M., CARLTON, J. T., DICK, J. T. A., HULME, P. E., IACARELIA, J. C., JESCHKE, J. M., LIEBHOLD, A. M., LOCKWOOD, J. L., MACISAAC, H. J., PYŠEK, P., RICHARDSON, D. M., RUIZ, G. M., SIMBERLOFF, D., SUTHERLAND, W. J., WARDLE, D. A. & ALDRIDGE, D. C. (2017). Invasion science: a horizon scan of emerging challenges and opportunities. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution* 32, 464–474.
- RICCIARDI, A., HOOPES, M. F., MARCHETTI, M. P. & LOCKWOOD, J. L. (2013). Progress toward understanding the ecological impacts of non-native species. *Ecological Monographs* 83, 263–282.
- RICCIARDI, A. & SIMBERLOFF, D. (2009). Assisted colonization is not a viable conservation strategy. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution* 24, 248–253.
- RICHARDSON, D. M., HELLMANN, J. J., MCLACHLAN, J., SAX, D. F., SCHWARTZ, M. W., BRENNAN, J., GONZALEZ, P., ROOT, T., SAIA, O., SCHNEIDER, S., ASHE, D., CAMACHO, A., RAPPAPORT CLARK, J., EARLY, R., ETTERSON, J., et al. (2009). Multidimensional evaluation of managed relocation. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 106, 9721–9724.
- RICHARDSON, D. M., PYŠEK, P. & CARLTON, J. T. (2011). A compendium of essential concepts and terminology in biological invasions. In *Fifty Years of Invasion Ecology: The Legacy of Charles Elton* (ed. D. M. RICHARDSON), pp. 409–420. Blackwell Publishing, Oxford.
- RICHARDSON, D. M., PYŠEK, P., REJMÁNEK, M., BARBOUR, M. G., PANETTA, F. D. & WEST, C. J. (2000). Naturalization and invasion of alien plants: concepts and definitions. *Diversity and Distributions* 6, 93–107.
- RICHARDSON, D. M. & RICCIARDI, A. (2013). Misleading criticisms of invasion science: a field-guide. *Diversity and Distributions* 19, 1461–1467.
- RICHTER, R., BERGER, U. E., DULLINGER, S., ESSL, F., LEITNER, M., SMITH, M. & VOGL, G. (2013). Spread of invasive ragweed: climate change, management and how to reduce allergy costs. *Journal of Applied Ecology* 50, 1422–1430.
- RIPPLE, W. J., WOLF, C., NEWSOME, T. M., GALETTI, M., ALAMGIR, M., CRIST, E., MAHMOUD, M. I., LAURANCE, W. F. & 15,364 scientist signatories from 184 countries (2017). World scientists' warning to humanity: a second notice. *BioScience* 67, 1026–1028.
- ROCCHINI, D., MARCANTONIO, M., ARHONDITSIS, G., CACCIATO, A. L., HAUFFE, H. C. & HE, K. S. (2019). Cartogramming uncertainty in species distribution models: a Bayesian approach. *Ecological Complexity* **38**, 146–155.
- ROSE, M. & HERMANUTZ, L. (2004). Are boreal ecosystems susceptible to alien plant invasion? Evidence from protected areas. *Oecologia* 139, 467–477.
- ROUGET, M., ROBERTSON, M. P., WILSON, J. R. U., HUI, C., ESSL, F., RENTERIA, J. L. & RICHARDSON, D. M. (2016). Invasion debt: quantifying future biological invasions. *Diversity and Distributions* 22, 445–456.
- ROY, H. E., BACHER, S., ESSL, F., ADRIAENS, T., ALDRIDGE, D. C., BISHOP, J. D., BLACKBURN, T. M., BRANQUART, E., BRODIE, J., CARBONERAS, C., COTTIER-COOK, E. J., COPP, G. H., DEAN, H. J., EILENBERG, J., GALLARDO, B., et al. (2019). Developing a list of invasive alien species likely to threaten biodiversity and ecosystems in the European Union. *Global Change Biology* 25, 1032–1048.

- ROY, H. E., HESKETH, H., PURSE, B. V., EILENBERG, J., SANTINI, A., SCALERA, R., STENTIFORD, G. D., ADRIAENS, T., BACELA-SPYCHALSKA, K., BASS, D., BECKMANN, K. M., BESSELL, P., BOJKO, J., BOOY, O., CARDOSO, A. C., ESSL, F., GROOM, Q., HARROWER, C., KLEESPIES, R., MARTINOU, A. F., OERS, M. M., PEELER, E. J., PERCL, J., RABITSCH, W., ROQUES, A., SCHAFFNER, F., SCHINDLER, S., SCHMIDT, B. R., SCHÖNROGGE, K., SMITH, J., SOLARZ, W., STEWART, A., STROO, A., TRICARICO, E., TURVEY, K. M. A., VANNINI, A., VILÀ, M., WOODWARD, S., WYNNS, A. A. & DUNN, A. M. (2017). Alien pathogens on the horizon: opportunities for predicting their threat to wildlife. *Conservation Letters* 10, 477–484.
- ROY, H. E., PEYTON, J., ALDRIDGE, D. C., BANTOCK, T., BLACKBURN, T. M., BRITTON, R., CLARK, P., COOK, E., DEHNEN-SCHMUTZ, K., DINES, T., DOBSON, M., EDWARDS, F., HARROWER, C., HARVEY, M. C., MINCHIN, D., NOBLE, D. G., PARROTT, D., POCOCK, M. J. O., PRESTON, C. D., ROY, S., SALISBURY, A., SCHÖNROGCE, K., SEWELL, J., SHAW, R. H., STEBBING, P., STEWART, A. J. A. & WALKER, K. J. (2014). HOrizon scanning for invasive alien species with the potential to threaten biodiversity in Great Britain. *Global Change Biology* **20**, 3859–3871.
- ROY, H. E., RABITSCH, W., SCALERA, R., STEWART, A., GALLARDO, B., GENOVESI, P., ESSL, F., ADRIAENS, T., BACHER, S., BOOY, O., BRANQUART, E., BRUNEL, S., COPP, G. H., DEAN, H., D'HONDT, B., JOSEFSSON, M., KENIS, M., KETTUNEN, M., LINNAMAGI, M., LUCY, F., MARTINOU, A., MOORE, N., NENTWIG, W., NIETO, A., PERCL, J., PEYTON, J., ROQUES, A., SCHINDLER, S., SCHÖNROGGE, K., SOLARZ, W., STEBBING, P. D., TRICHROVA, T., VANDERHOEVEN, S., VAN VALKENBURG, J. & ZENETOS, A. (2018). Developing a framework of minimum standards for the risk assessment of alien species. *Journal of Applied Ecology* 55, 526–538.
- ROY, H. E., RORKE, S. L., BECKMANN, B., BOOY, O., BOTHAM, M. S., BROWN, P. M., HARROWER, C., NOBLE, D., SEWELL, J. & WALKER, K. (2015). The contribution of volunteer recorders to our understanding of biological invasions. *Biological Journal of the Linnean Society* **115**, 678–689.
- RYTWINSKI, T., TAYLOR, J. J., DONALDSON, L. A., BRITTON, J. R., BROWNE, D. R., GRESSWELL, R. E., LINTERMANS, M., PRIOR, K. A., PELLATT, M. G., VIS, C. & COOKE, S. J. (2019). The effectiveness of non-native fish removal techniques in freshwater ecosystems: a systematic review. *Environmental Reviews* 27, 71–94.
- SAGI, A., MANOR, R. & VENTURA, T. (2013). Gene silencing in crustaceans: from basic research to biotechnologies. *Genes* 4, 620–645.
- SAN MIGUEL, K. & SCOTT, J. G. (2016). The next generation of insecticides: dsRNA is stable as a foliar applied insecticide. *Pest Management Science* 72, 801–809.
- SARDAIN, A., SARDAIN, E. & LEUNG, B. (2019). Global forecasts of shipping traffic and biological invasions to 2050. *Nature Sustainability* 2, 274–282.
- SAUL, W.-C., ROY, H. E., BOOY, O., CARNEVALI, L., CHEN, H. J., GENOVESI, P., HARROWER, C. A., HULME, P. E., PAGAD, S., PERGL, J. & JESCHKE, J. M. (2017). Assessing patterns in introduction pathways of alien species by linking major invasion databases. *Journal of Applied Ecology* 54, 657–669.
- SCALERA, R., GENOVESI, P., DE MAN, D., KLAUSEN, B. & DICKIE, L. (2016). European Code of Conduct on Zoological Gardens and Aquaria and Invasive Alien Species. Council of Europe Publishing, Strasbourg.
- SCHEELE, B. C., PASMANS, F., SKERRATT, L. F., BERGER, L., MARTEL, A., BEUKEMA, W., ACEVEDO, A. A., BURROWES, P. A., CARVALHO, T., CATENAZZI, A., DE LA RIVA, I., FISHER, M. C., FLECHAS, S. V., FOSTER, C. N., FRÍAS-LVAREZ, P., et al. (2019). Ambhibian fungal panzootic causes catastrophic and ongoing loss of biodiversity. *Science* 363, 1459–1463.
- SCHWEIGER, O., BIESMEIJER, J. C., BOMMARCO, R., HICKLER, T., HULME, P. E., KLOTZ, S., KÜHN, I., MOORA, M., NIELSEN, A., OHLEMÜLLER, R., PETANIDOU, T., POTTS, S. G., PYŠEK, P., STOUT, J. C., SYKES, M. T., TSCHEULIN, T., VILÅ, M., WALTHER, G. R., WESTPHAL, C., WINTER, M., ZOBEL, M. & SETTELE, J. (2010). Multiple stressors on biotic interactions: how climate change and alien species interact to affect pollination. *Biological Reviews* 85, 777–795.
- SEEBENS, H., BLACKBURN, T. M., DYER, E. E., GENOVESI, P., HULME, P. E., JESCHKE, J. M., PAGAD, S., PYŠEK, P., VAN KLEUNEN, M., WINTER, M., ANSONG, M., ARIANOUTSOU, M., BACHER, S., BLASIUS, B., BROCKERHOFF, E. G., BRUNDU, G., CAPINHA, C., CAUSTON, C. E., CELESTI-GRAPOW, L., DAWSON, W., DULLINGER, S., ECONOMO, E. P., FUENTES, N., GUENARD, B., JÁCER, H., KARTESZ, J., KENIS, M., KÜHN, I., LENZNER, B., LIEBHOLD, A. M., MOSENA, A., MOSER, D., NENTWIG, W., NISHINO, M., PEARMAN, D., PERGL, J., RABITSCH, W., ROJAS-SANDOVAL, J., ROQUES, A., RORKE, S., ROSSINELLI, S., ROY, H. E., SCALERA, R., SCHINDLER, S., ŠTAJEROVÁ, K., TOKARSKA-GUZIK, B., WALKER, K., WARD, D. F., YAMANAKA, T. & ESSL, F. (2018). Global rise in emerging alien species results from accessibility of new source pools. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 115, E2264–E2273.
- SEEBENS, H., BLACKBURN, T. M., DYER, E. E., GENOVESI, P., HULME, P. E., JESCHKE, J. M., PAGAD, S., PYŠEK, P., WINTER, M., ARIANOUTSOU, M., BACHER, S., BLASIUS, B., BRUNDU, G., CAPINHA, C., CELESTI-GRAPOW, L., DAWSON, W., DULLINGER, S., FUENTES, N., JÁCER, H., KARTESZ, J., KENIS, M., KREFT, H., KÜHN, I., LENZNER, B., LIEBHOLD, A., MOSENA, A., MOSER, D., NISHINO, M., PEARMAN, D., PERGL, J., RABITSCH, W., ROJAS-SANDOVAL, J., ROQUES, A., RORKE, S., ROSSINELLI, S., ROY, H. E., SCALERA, R., SCHINDLER, S., ŠTAJEROVÁ, K., TOKARSKA-GUZIK, B., VAN KLEUNEN, M., WALKER, K., WEIGELT, P., YAMANAKA, T. & ESSL, F.

(2017). No saturation in the accumulation of alien species worldwide. *Nature Communications* 8, 14435.

- SEEBENS, H., ESSL, F., DAWSON, W., FUENTES, N., MOSER, D., PERGL, J., PYŠEK, P., VAN KLEUNEN, M., WEBER, E., WINTER, M. & BLASIUS, B. (2015). Global trade will accelerate plant invasions in emerging economies under climate change. *Global Change Biology* 21, 4128–4140.
- SEIDL, R., KLONNER, G., RAMMER, W., ESSL, F., MORENO, A., NEUMANN, M. & DULLINGER, S. (2018). Invasive alien pests threaten the carbon stored in Europe's forests. *Nature Communications* 9, 1626.
- SHACKLETON, R. T., BIGGS, R., RICHARDSON, D. M. & LARSON, B. M. H. (2018). Socialecological drivers and impacts of invasion-related regime shifts: consequences for ecosystem services and human wellbeing. *Environmental Science and Policy* 89, 300–314.
- SHACKLETON, R. T., FOXCROFT, L. C., PYŠEK, P., WOOD, L. E. & RICHARDSON, D. M. (2020). Assessing biological invasions in protected areas after 30 years: revisiting nature reserves targeted by the 1980s SCOPE programme. *Biological Conservation* 243, 108424.
- SHANMUGANATHAN, T., PALLISTER, J., DOODY, S., MCCALLUM, H., ROBINSON, T., SHEPPARD, A., HARDY, C., HALLIDAY, D., VENABLES, D., VOYSEY, R., STRIVE, T., HINDS, L. & HYATT, A. (2010). Biological control of the cane toad in Australia: a review. *Animal Conservation* 13 (Suppl. 1), 16–23.
- SIKES, B. A., BUFFORD, J. L., HULME, P. E., COOPER, J. A., JOHNSTON, P. R. & DUNCAN, R. P. (2013). Import volumes and biosecurity interventions shape the arrival rate of fungal pathogens. *PLoS Biology* 16, e2006025.
- SIMBERLOFF, D. (2014). Biological invasions: what's worth fighting and what can be won? *Ecological Engineering* 65, 112–121.
- SIMBERLOFF, D., GENOVESI, P., PYŠEK, P. & CAMPBELL, K. (2011). Recognizing conservation success. *Science* 332, 419.
- SIMBERLOFF, D., KEITT, B., WILL, D., HOLMES, N., PICKETT, E. & GENOVESI, P. (2018). Yes we can! Exciting progress and prospects for controlling invasives on islands and beyond. *Western North American Naturalist* 78, 942–958.
- SIMBERLOFF, D., MARTIN, J.-L., GENOVESI, P., MARIS, V., WARDLE, D. A., ARONSON, J., COURCHAMP, F., GALIL, B., GARCÍA-BERTHOU, E., PASCAL, M., PYŠEK, P., SOUSA, R., TABACCHI, E. & VILÀ, M. (2013). Impacts of biological invasions: what's what and the way forward. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution* 28, 58–66.
- SIMBERLOFF, D., SOUZA, L., NUÑEZ, M., BARRIOS-GARCIA, N. & BUNN, W. (2012). The natives are restless, but not often and mostly when disturbed. *Ecology* 93, 598–607.
- SIMBERLOFF, D. & VON HOLLE, B. (1999). Positive interaction of nonindigenous species: invasional meltdown? *Biological Invasions* 1, 21–32.
- SIMPSON, A. & EYLER, M. C. (2018). First Comprehensive List of Non-native Species Established in Three Major Regions of the United States. U.S. Geological Survey Open-File Report 2018-1156, 1–15.
- STEBBING, P., LONGSHAW, M. & SCOTT, A. (2014). Review of methods for the management of non-indigenous crayfish, with particular reference to Great Britain. *Ethology, Ecology and Evolution* 26, 204–231.
- SUAREZ, A. V. & TSUTSUI, N. D. (2008). The evolutionary consequences of biological invasions. *Molecular Ecology* 17, 351–360.
- TEDESCO, P. A., BEAUCHARD, O., BIGORNE, R., BLANCHET, S., BUISSON, L., CONTI, L., CORNU, J.-F., DIAS, M. S., GRENOUILLET, G., HUGUENY, B., JÉZÉQUEL, C., LEPRIEUR, F., BROSSE, S. & OBERDORFF, T. (2017). A global database on freshwater fish species occurrence in drainage basins. *Scientific Data* 4, 170141.
- TERRY, J. C. D., ROY, H. E. & AUGUST, T. A. (2020). Thinking like a naturalist: enhancing computer vision of citizen science images by harnessing contextual data. *Methods in Ecology and Evolution* 11, 303–315.
- THAKUR, M. P., VAN DER PUTTEN, W. H., COBBEN, M. M. P., VAN KLEUNEN, M. & GEISEN, S. (2019). Microbial invasions in terrestrial ecosystems: from processes to impacts and implications. *Nature Reviews Microbiology* 17, 621–631.
- TITTENSOR, D. P., WALPOLE, M., HILL, S., BOYCE, D., BRITTEN, G. L., BURGESS, N., BUTCHART, S. H. M., LEADLEY, P. W., REGAN, E. C., ALKEMADE, R., BAUMUNG, R., BELLARD, C., BOUWMAN, L., BOWLES-NEWARK, N. J., CHENERY, A. M., et al. (2014). A mid-term analysis of progress towards international biodiversity targets. *Science* 346, 241–244.
- TOBIN, P. C., KEAN, J. M., SUCKLING, D. M., MCCULLOUGH, D. G., HERMS, D. A. & STRINGER, L. D. (2014). Determinants of successful arthropod eradication programs. *Biological Invasions* 16, 401–414.
- TRAVIS, J. (1993). Invader threatens black, Azov seas. Science 262, 1366–1367.
- Union of Concerned Scientists (1992). World scientists' Warning to Humanity. http://www. ucsusa.org/sites/default/files/attach/2017/11/World%20Scientists%27% 20Warning%20to%20Humanity%201992.pdf. Accessed 25.06.2019.
- VALIENTE-BANUET, A., AIZEN, M. A., ALCÁNTARA, J. M., ARROYO, J., COCUCCI, A., GALETTI, M., GARCÍA, M. B., GARCÍA, D., GÓMEZ, J. M., JORDANO, P., MEDEL, R., NAVARRO, L., OBESO, J. R., OVIEDO, R., RAMÍREZ, N., REY, P. J., TRAVESET, A., VERDÚ, M. & ZAMORA, R. (2015). Beyond species loss: the extinction of ecological interactions in a changing world. *Functional Ecology* 29, 299–307.
- VAN KLEUNEN, M., DAWSON, W., ESSL, F., PERGL, J., WINTER, M., WEBER, E., KREFT, H., WEIGELT, P., KARTESZ, J., NISHINO, M., ANTONOVA, L. A., BARCELONA, J. F., CABEZAS, F. J., CÁRDENAS, D., CÁRDENAS-TORO, J., CASTAÑO, N., CHACÓN, E.,

CHATELAIN, C., EBEL, A. L., FIGUEIREDO, E., FUENTES, N., GROOM, Q. J., HENDERSON, L., INDERJIT, B., KUPRIYANOV, A., MASCIADRI, S., MEERMAN, J., MOROZOVA, O., MOSER, D., NICKRENT, D. L., PATZELT, A., PELSER, P. B., BAPTISTE, M. P., POOPATH, M., SCHULZE, M., SEEBENS, H., SHU, W. S., THOMAS, J., VELAVOS, M., WIERINGA, J. J. & PYSEK, P. (2015). Global exchange and accumulation of non-native plants. *Nature* **525**, 100–103.

- VAN KLEUNEN, M., ESSL, F., PERGL, J., BRUNDU, G., CARBONI, M., DULLINGER, S., EARLY, R., GONZÁLEZ-MORENO, P., GROOM, Q. J., HULME, P. E., KUEFFER, C., KÜHN, I., MÁGUAS, C., MAUREL, N., NOVOA, A., PAREPA, M., PYŠEK, P., SEEBENS, H., TANNER, R., TOUZA, J., VERBRUGGE, L., WEBER, E., DAWSON, W., KREFT, H., WEIGELT, P., WINTER, M., KLONNER, G., TALLUTO, M. V. & DEHNEN-SCHMUTZ, K. (2018). The changing role of ornamental horticulture in plant invasions. *Biological Reviews* 93, 1421–1437.
- VAN KLEUNEN, M., PYŠEK, P., DAWSON, W., ESSL, F., KREFT, H., PERGL, J., WEIGELT, P., STEIN, A., DULLINGER, S., KÔNIG, C., LENZNER, B., MAUREL, N., MOSER, D., SEEBENS, H., KARTESZ, J., et al. (2019). The global naturalized alien Flora (GloNAF) database. *Ecology* **100**, e02542.
- VAZ, A. S., KUEFFER, C., KULL, C. A., RICHARDSON, D. M., SCHINDLER, S., MUÑOZ-PAJARES, A. J., VICENTE, J. R., MARTINS, J., HUI, C., KÜHN, I. & HONRADO, J. P. (2017). The progress of interdisciplinary in invasion science. *Ambio* 46, 428–442.
- VEITCH, C. R., CLOUT, M. N., MARTIN, J. C., RUSSELL, J. C. & WEST, C. J. (eds) (2019). Island Invasives: Scaling up to Meet the Challenge. IUCN, Gland.
- VILÀ, M., ESPINAR, J. L., HEJDA, M., HULME, P. E., JAROŠÍK, V., MARON, J. L., PERGL, J., SCHAFFNER, U., SUN, Y. & PYŠEK, P. (2011). Ecological impacts of invasive alien plants: a meta-analysis of their effects on species, communities and ecosystems. *Ecology Letters* 14, 702–708.
- VILA, M. & HULME, P. E. (eds) (2017). Impact of Biological Invasions on Ecosystem Services. Springer, Berlin.
- VILIZZI, L., COPP, G. H., ADAMOVICH, B., ALMEIDA, D., CHAN, J., DAVISON, P. I., DEMBSKI, S., EKMEKCI, F. G., FERINCZ, A., FORNECK, S. C., HILL, J. E., KIM, J.-E., KOUTSIKOS, N., LEUVEN, R. S. E. W., LUN, S. A., et al. (2019). A global review and meta-analysis of applications of the freshwater fish invasiveness screening kit. *Reviews in Fish Biology and Fisheries* 29, 529–568.
- VITOUSEK, P. M., LOOPE, L. L. & STONE, C. P. (1987). Introduced species in Hawaii: biological effects and opportunities for ecological research. *Trends in Ecology and Evolution* 2, 224–227.
- WALTHER, G. R., GRITTI, E. S., BERGER, S., HICKLER, T., TANG, Z. Y. & SYKES, M. T. (2007). Palms tracking climate change. *Global Ecology and Biogeography* 16, 801–809.

- WALTHER, G. R., ROQUES, A., HULME, P. E., SYKES, M. T., PYŠEK, P., KUHN, I., ZOBEL, M., BACHER, S., BOTTA-DUKÁT, Z., BUGMANN, H., CZÚCZ, B., DAUBER, J., HICKLER, T., JAROŠÍK, V., KENIS, M., et al. (2009). Alien species in a warmer world: risks and opportunities. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution* 24, 686–693.
- VAN WILGEN, B. W., COWLING, R. M. & BURGERS, C. J. (1996). Valuation of ecosystem services. *BioScience* 46, 184–189.
- VAN WILGEN, B. W. & RICHARDSON, D. M. (2014). Managing invasive alien trees: challenges and trade-offs. *Biological Invasions* 16, 721–734.
- VAN WILGEN, B. W. & WILSON, J. R. (eds) (2018). The Status of Biological Invasions and their Management in South Africa. South African National Biodiversity Institute, Kirstenbosch and DST-NRF Centre of Excellence for Invasion Biology, Stellenbosch.
- WILSON, J. R. U., FAULKNER, K. T., RAHLAO, S. J., RICHARDSON, D. M., ZENGEYA, T. A. & VAN WILGEN, B. W. (2018). Indicators for monitoring biological invasions at a national level. *Journal of Applied Ecology* 55, 2612–2620.
- WILSON, J. R. U., GAIRIFO, C., GIBSON, M. R., ARIANOUTSOU, M., BAKAR, B. B., BARET, S., CELESTI-GRAPOW, L., DITOMASO, J. M., DUFOUR-DROR, J.-M., KUEFFER, C., KULL, C. A., HOFFMANN, J. H., IMPSON, F. A. C., LOOPE, L. L., MARCHANTE, E., MARCHANTE, H., MOORE, J. L., MURPHY, D. J., TASSIN, J., WITT, A., ZENNI, R. D. & RICHARDSON, D. M. (2011). Risk assessment, eradication, and biological control: global efforts to limit Australian acacia invasions. *Diversity* and Distributions 17, 1030–1046.
- WITTEMYER, G., ELSEN, P., BEAN, W. T., COLEMAN, A., BURTON, O. & BRASHARES, J. S. (2008). Accelerated human population growth at protected area edges. *Science* 321, 123–126.
- WOODFORD, D. J., RICHARDSON, D. M., MACISAAC, H. J., MANDRAK, N. E., VAN WILGEN, B. W., WILSON, J. R. U. & WEYL, O. L. F. (2016). Confronting the wicked problem of managing biological invasions. *NeoBiota* **31**, 63–86.
- ZAVALETA, E. (2000). Valuing ecosystem services lost to *Tamarix* invasion in the United States. In *Invasive Species in a Changing World* (eds H. A. MOONEV and R. J. HOBBS), pp. 261–300. Island Press, Washington.
- ZHANG, S. (2017). The EPA quietly approved Monsanto's new genetic-engineering technology. The Atlantic. www.thcatlantic.com/science/archive/2017/06/monsanto-rna-interference/ 531288 Accessed 23.06.2017.
- ZOTTI, M., DOS SANTOS, E. A., CAGLIARI, D., CHRISTIAENS, O., TANING, C. N. T. & SMAGGHE, G. (2018). RNA interference technology in crop protection against arthropod pests, pathogens and nematodes. *Pest Management Science* 74, 1239– 1250.

(Received 8 October 2019; revised 30 May 2020; accepted 3 June 2020; published online 25 June 2020)